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Requestor Name:

Department:

Requestor Email:

Item(s) to be considered:

Date of meeting being requested:

Does the request involve a contract, agreement, external funding, or award acceptance?

List of additional attendees:

Time requested:

Contract/Agreement Begin Date: Contract/Agreement End Date:

Tristan Bourquin

Planning and Development

tristanb@bannockcounty.gov

Appeal of Council's Decision - On January 16, 2025, Council made a decision to deny a conditional
use permit for a gravel pit. This is a request to appeal that decision.

03/13/2025

No

Hal Jensen

5 Minutes
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Bannock County, ID March 4, 2025

APC-25-1
Appeal of Council

Decision

Status: Active
Submitted On: 2/10/2025

Primary Location

No location

Owner

No owner information

Applicant

Anthony Budge

Decision on Appeal

Decision being appealed*

P&D January 16, 2025 Decision Denying John Wilkes CUP Application for Parcel
RPR3803048300

Date of decision*

01/16/2025

Below give a brief explanation of why the Council's decision is being appealed.

Appeal Narrative*

Applicant believes that the CUP should have been granted based on the factors
listed in Bannock County Code 17.56.410, namely subsections A - D.

3/4/25, 11:36 AM APC-25-1

https://bannockcountyid.workflow.opengov.com/#/explore/records/9544/65062 1/2
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Acknowledgement

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that the information herein and attached hereto is

true and correct to the best of my knowledge. I acknowledge that transcript fees

must be paid before the end of the 10-day appeal window or within 48 hours of

notice to pay, or this appeal will be considered abandoned and closed. I hereby

authorize the filing of this application and consent to staff review and correction of

minor discrepancies on my behalf, if found on this application.

Electronic Signature [Typed Name of Applicant]*

Anthony B. Budge

I agree that my electronic signature above is

equivalent to a handwritten signature and is binding

for all purposes related to this transaction*

Date*

02/10/2025

3/4/25, 11:36 AM APC-25-1

https://bannockcountyid.workflow.opengov.com/#/explore/records/9544/65062 2/2
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January 16, 2025 Council Meeting  

AudioClerk Transcription 

 

1 

Tristan Bourquin: Okay, you're good.  

Chair Ulrich: We call to order our Planning and Development Council 

meeting.  

Council Member Selleneit: I'd like to make a motion to open the public hearing.  

Council Member Dimick: Second.  

Chair Ulrich: Motion’s been opened, seconded. Roll call and disclosures of 

conflicts of interest, again.  

Tristan Bourquin: Molly Dimick.  

Council Member Dimick: Present with no conflicts.  

Tristan Bourquin: Chad Selleneit.  

Council Member Selleneit: Present, no conflict.  

Tristan Bourquin: Ed Ulrich. 

Chair Ulrich: Present, no conflict. 

Tristan Bourquin: Crystal Madsen. 

Council Member Madsen: Present, no conflict.  

Chair Ulrich: Hal, do you want to cover small preliminary business?  

Hal Jensen: Real quickly, Hal Jensen, Planning Director with Bannock 

County. In relation to your agenda, there are no items of 

clarification and there are no changes. The recommendation 

is to accept the agenda as approved.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you. And again, thank you for your patience as we 

move through this. I'll read the introduction once again. I 

read things typically better the second time than the first, so 

hopefully I do better. This is a scheduled meeting with the 

Bannock County Planning and Development Council. The 

Planning Council serves in both a decision making capacity 

and an advisory committee to the Board of County 

Commissioners. Any decision made by the council this 

evening may be appealed to the county commissioners within 

10 days of the decision. Please call the Office of Planning 

and Development Services at 236-7230 prior to the 10-day 

deadline for details and instructions for filing that appeal.  

 

The hearing process is as follows. The presentation will be 

given by the applicant with a six-minute time limit. The staff 
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report is presented by Planning and Development staff. Then 

we'll move to public testimony which will be given in favor, 

neutral – I'm, I'm sorry, favor of the proposal, neutral of the 

proposal, and against the proposal, with time limits at three 

minutes each, unless you cede the time to those folks who 

will be representing you.  

 

The Planning and Development Council discusses the 

hearing subjects that – you know, while we discuss it, we 

may direct questions to the staff, to the applicant, or the 

audience during that state of the process. At that point, the 

hearing will be closed to oral testimony from the applicant 

and the audience, and the hearing process is concluded and 

deliberations will begin amongst us. Just to note, we're going 

to break this up and take a short recess every 90 minutes just 

in case we need restroom breaks or water or whatever.  

 

So rules for the process. Again, I'm trying to keep this 

hearing as cordial as we possibly can. We understand that 

some people will leave here angry tonight, some will leave 

here happy. But either way we're trying to make sure that 

everybody's heard and their voice is heard. This hearing is for 

public comment and it's not a question and answer session. 

Everyone will exhibit respectful behavior and there shall be 

no booing, hissing, or cheering. Anyone deemed unruly will 

be escorted out of the building. 

 

We've had lots of discussion about the signup sheets. I'll just 

mention it one more time that if you did not have that 

opportunity, then – right. If – is it still out there? They're still 

outside. So if you have it and you want to, they're still there. 

And we'll try to make sure the ladies here get a copy of your 

sign-up sheet.  

 

Only one person will speak at a time and must be – and will 

be recognized by myself before speaking. When you come to 

the podium, we want to have a name and an address so we 

can record who's saying what and when. And we are charged 

with – by law to keep a clear record of the proceedings. And 

so that's why we're starting this over and – for the recording 

so that we have this documented. So we do thank you for 

your courtesy. We very much thank you for your patience 

this evening. And is there anybody who does not understand 

the procedures I just went through? All right.  

 

So this hearing this evening is for a conditional use permit for 
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a mining operation. John Wilkes petitions for the conditional 

use permit to construct a new commercial sand and gravel 

mining operation. The facility’s proposed hours of operation 

will be 7:00 AM to 7:00 PM Monday through Saturday with 

possible DOT variations. The facility proposes 15 employees 

as well as the use of heavy equipment in conjunction with the 

mining operation. The effective property is known as parcel 

PR – I'm sorry, RPR3803048300, and is currently 

unaddressed. At the hearing, this Council will evaluate the 

proposed use criteria established by – in section 530 of the 

Zoning Ordinance. This will be a decision action. So I will 

first invite – where’d I put it? The applicant. 

Tristan Bourquin: Ed, before we do that, will you make a motion to open the 

public hearing?  

Chair Ulrich: Oh yeah.  

Hal Jensen: We already did.  

Chair Ulrich: We already did, right at the beginning.  

Tristan Bourquin: You did? Okay. 

Chair Ulrich: We can do it again. 

Tristan Bourquin: Nope, you're good.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. All right. Go ahead.  

John Wilkes: Good evening, and hello. My name is John Wilkes. I am the 

applicant for this proposal and I'm the general manager of 

Idaho Materials and Construction. We employ nearly 450 

employees in this vicinity, many of whom are here tonight. 

I’m going to turn the time over to our counsel, Mr. Larsen. 

Reed Larsen: Good evening. My name is Reed Larsen. Excuse me, I 

haven’t talked for a minute and I have a little bit of a frog. 

My address is 151 3rd Avenue North, Suite 200 Pocatello, 

Idaho, with the firm Cooper and Larsen. My partner Tony 

Budge is here with me. It is our privilege to represent Idaho 

Materials and Construction. This application is for a 

conditional use permit. It's for a conditional use that is 

allowed in the current zoning, that's zoned agricultural under 

rural-residential. And a conditional use permit for mining is 

conditioned to this – within the zoning ordinance and it’s in 

our rights to be here.  

 

There are five basic standards for a conditional use permit – 

157 BOARD OF BANNOCK COUNTY COMMISSIONERS - MEETING TUESDAY, MARCH 25, 2025



 

 

 

January 16, 2025 Council Meeting  

AudioClerk Transcription 

 

4 

I'll just go through those very briefly – that are contained in 

our application’s supporting documents. The first is, “the 

proposed use not adversely affect the surrounding area,” and 

that is one of those things that is addressed primarily by 

studies we've submitted to you, Exhibit A, which is the 

Fugitive Dust Prevention Study.  

 

Dust is certainly a process of farming. It's also a process of 

mining. The advantage in this operation is we have certain 

standards that we have to meet as a mining operation that 

wouldn't be present with an agricultural farming operation. 

Those are monitored by the EPA. They're also monitored by 

the Idaho Department of Air Quality. So we have to meet 

those standards. They're listed for you in Exhibit A and we 

believe that those are safeguards that warrant one of the 

elements for the conditional use permit.  

 

Exhibit B is the mitigation buffer. So, one of the concerns 

that people have is – with mining of gravel in the 

neighborhood is that it be appropriately addressed. That's a 

reasonable request. That's a reasonable thing that we have 

attempted to address. Exhibit B shows that there will be a 

significant buffer, a 12-foot barrier with vegetation that’ll 

have an effect on the ability to see any of the operation. It 

would be limited to look more like a natural wild area, open 

area rather than looking into a gravel pit.  

 

It also has the effect of mitigating the noise that comes from 

the gravel, from the activities that take place there. Another 

part of that mitigation buffer is the corridor that’s closest to 

the rural residential area is going to be designated as 

undeveloped. So that will be an additional, I think it's 24 

acres that will not be addressed by the mining operation, 

which is an additional buffer.  

 

Exhibit C is the final concept plan, which means at some 

point this operation is over and as it’s turned over for other 

additional uses there are many issues and examples of good 

uses of reclaimed land after gravel pits. We don't have to go 

too far to see Russell Freeman Park in Idaho Falls, other 

areas where there's a myriad of uses that can be used for this 

as open space or even amusement parks, golf courses, 

residential, and other types of housing.  

 

Finally, on this first element is the real estate comparison, 

that's Exhibit D. The real estate comparison is one of those 
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things that's going to be difficult to make a determination, 

and it’s discretionary within your ability based on the 

evidence. But what we've provided to you is showing that the 

real estate values currently are not any different than 

surrounding areas for similarly made homes. That's important 

because there's already existing gravel pits, gravel mining 

operations in this area now. Gravel is one of those things that 

isn't everywhere as we have to look to where it is to be able 

to use it.  

 

The second element is the proposed use would not cause 

undue disruption to traffic. We provided you with a traffic 

study done by Paul Ashton, and he has concluded that this 

wouldn't be a disruption into the traffic that already exists, 

and part of that is because we already have existing gravel 

operations going on in this area. At maximum, it would 

increase, at maximum production, by about 150 loads per 

day, and that's the maximum production, not a significant 

effect. The county roads are built to withstand that load with 

proper base and proper asphalt layers, that was all – that's 

already been established. 

 

The third element is the proposed use would not damage 

public health, safety, or welfare. This is an interesting aspect 

and we provided you with a study that came from Brigham 

City. The operation in Brigham City was done as a request of 

concerned citizens about the effects of respiratory or cancer 

issues. It was done by a third party.  

Council Member Selleneit: That's your time, sir.  

Reed Larsen: Okay.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you.  

Reed Larsen: My pleasure. 

Chair Ulrich: You will have 93 minutes when we get to that point. Thank 

you. All right, staff report.  

Annie Hughes:  Annie Hughes, Bannock County Zoning Planner. You’ve had 

that report, the staff report in your possession for a week 

now. Do you have any questions for us?  

Council Member Dimick: I'll give one. On “Standards for Approving Conditional Use 

Permit Part E,” staff findings on the increased traffic lists, 

“traffic is proposed to increase by 50 to 100 trips per day,” 
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but I believe the number was higher than that in their 

application. I don't know if we needed to call that out.  

Tristan Bourquin: Tristan Bourquin, Assistant Planning Director. So that's a 

question that you would probably want to address with the 

applicant. In the actual application submitted through the 

portal, the number was 50 to 100. The higher number is what 

you found in the exhibits that they submitted, correct? Yeah. 

So that would be something that you would want to address 

with the applicant. 

Council Member Dimick: Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Anything else on the staff report?  

Council Member Selleneit: No, I don't have any questions.  

Chair Ulrich: All right. All right. We will move on to public testimony. So 

I will call your name for those who are in support and wish to 

testify. Let's start with Felicia Good.  

Tristan Bourquin: And Ed, really quick too, you might queue up the next two 

just in case they're in the multipurpose room and then they 

know to get ready.  

Chair Ulrich: All right, Felicia, we're going to start with you, then we'll go 

to Josh Good, the second, and Mark S. Head will be third. 

Felicia. Did Felicia leave, maybe? Josh Good? How about 

Mark S. Head?  

Mark Head: Present.  

Chair Ulrich: Thanks, Mark. After Mark, we'll go to Nate Stinger and Cody 

Johnson. 

Mark Head: My name's Mark S. Head. My residence is at – or my address 

I put on there is  That's where I work. I 

live in Inkom, 485 Commercial Street, if you need to know 

that. I've worked at IMC for 22 years. I moved my family 

here to work for them. I work in the Transportation 

Department, the ones that tackle with all the gravel from 

place to place. 

 

I just wanted to address you guys and kind of give you an 

idea of what I think this pit means to our community. I see it 

as a necessary thing. There are other pits in the area, but our 

company excels on the work that we do. We do work for 

Bannock County. We do work for Pocatello, Chubbuck, the 

State. We work all over.  
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This pit provides for buildings, for foundations for buildings. 

The aggregates that come out of here make our concrete not 

only for homes, but for our businesses that we build. This 

building alone took a lot of concrete to build it. So, the 

aggregates that come out of this go through our hot plant 

when they build roads. And they repair our roads to keep our 

roads smooth and running the way they should.  

 

The products that come out of this pit are landscaping 

products, aggregates, rocks that we use for gravel driveways, 

decorative rock, things of that nature. Some other things that 

people don't think of is we provide railroad ballast, for the 

railroad, to elevate them off of the ground so they're not 

running their trains through the water. As far as I see, this is a 

necessary thing for the growth of all of our cities in Bannock 

County and for Bannock County itself, so with that, I thank 

you. 

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Mark. Nate Stinger.  

Nate Stinger: Nate Stinger, 1 . Thank you and good 

evening. I come before you as an employee of this company, 

but I also come before you as a resident to this community. 

Sixteen seasons, I've worked for this company and my entire 

life I've lived in this community. My family raised me here 

and I have now begun to raise my own family here. It's the 

means and the methods for me to be able to feed my family 

and to carry and so forth. 

 

I believe in responsible growth and development and this 

CUP is necessary to support responsible growth and 

development. We are all standing before you with personal 

opinions, both for and against. It is my opinion and I believe 

if the applicant has met the requirements of the County 

zoning and is agreeable to do so responsibly, this is a good 

thing. My vote is in favor of, thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay, hold on for a second. I have a question. Do we need 

his physical address or are we – because we got a number of 

these that are using the business address as their address. 

Tristan Bourquin: Whatever address they want to claim. There's no stipulations 

on which address.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. Thank you. Thank you very much. Next will be Cody 

Johnson. After Cody will be Reed, just so you know, you'll 

be after him.  
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Reed Larsen: Okay, thank you. 

Cody Johnson:  Good evening. My name is Cody Johnson,  

 Pocatello. I am also an employee of Idaho 

Materials and Construction. I've worked there for the last six 

years and I’m very proud, excuse me, I'm very proud of the 

work that Idaho Materials and Construction performs.  

 

Idaho Materials and Construction has been a great employer 

for me and is a way for me to provide for my family. I got 

four young children, seven and under, and they rely on my 

employment to be able to grow up, and for me to put food on 

the table, and give them whatever they need. And for that I 

am in favor of this pit, this gravel source going through so 

that we can continue as a company to provide the necessary 

building components, to continue to build roadways, 

infrastructure and other things that continue to develop the 

land here in Southeast Idaho and for that I'm in favor of this 

source. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thanks Cody. So I'm not going to read the names, but we've 

had a lot of people cede their time to Mr. Reed, so you're 

next. Thank you. It says 93 minutes, if you need 93 minutes.  

Reed Larsen: If I don't take it, will anybody punish me? 

Tristan Bourquin: No. 

Reed Larsen: I would hope not. And I may have John actually address a 

couple things as well. [Inaudible 00:22:09].  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. And then as you know, when we get done through all 

the testimony, we will have time for rebuttal.  

Reed Larsen: I appreciate that. As I was stating –   

Chair Ulrich: Name and address again, thanks.  

Reed Larsen: Reed W. Larsen, Cooper & Larsen, , 

 Pocatello, Idaho. As I was going through the 

factors, before we got to the third issue, which is that “the 

proposed use would not damage public health, safety, or 

general welfare within the vicinity,” I had started to explain 

Exhibit F.  

 

Exhibit F is a study that was done in Brigham City. The 

Brigham City facility is substantially larger than this facility. 

And the questions that were being addressed was the impact 

on respiratory issues and cancer. That was what was being 
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claimed by the complainants in that issue. And the study, 

which is part of the record, goes through and demonstrates 

that there is no increase in respiratory issues and there is no 

increase of cancer issues.  

 

This is important because we want to make sure that the 

community is safe not only for this facility, but our people 

work here and they live here as well. And it provides good 

evidence that we can put in a safe gravel mine, operate it 

correctly and safely without having any harmful impact to the 

public or any harmful impact to our employees.  

 

And once again, that's an issue that is monitored. If there is a 

complaint, there's areas where the people in the 

neighborhood could complain to appropriate regulatory 

agencies to make sure that we're doing our job. Our 

commitment is to do our job, but there's also, in place, people 

to safeguard the public for that as well. 

 

The next issue on that is the groundwater. We've had the 

groundwater tested, that's Exhibit G. The testing came back 

to say that there is no effect from this particular facility and 

this location on any subject groundwater that would be an 

issue.  

 

The fourth element is the proposed use would be consistent 

with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan. This 

is one where I'm going to address some of the issues, but I'm 

going to turn a few minutes over to John so he can actually 

help me with some of the other gravel issues.  

 

When we talk about gravel, it is really the bedrock of what 

we do to build anything in our community. I recently built a 

garage and the amount of gravel from the foundation, the 

amount of gravel from the walls, the amount of gravel that’s 

used in the cement, it's a necessary thing in every aspect of 

the building process. So, our community needs readily-

available and affordable gravel to be a part of growth for our 

community.  

 

The Comprehensive Plan anticipates a 33% growth in the 

near future over that period of time. That's an amazing 

amount of growth and if we're not prepared for it, we're going 

to have problems. And one of the things to have to be 

prepared is to have a source of readily-available material.  
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With gravel, unfortunately, it's not something we can go get 

just anywhere. It's geologically deposited where it ended up 

as a result of flood plains and those issues. Once you build 

over the top of it, it’s pretty tough to get the gravel out from 

underneath it. So the fact that we have this particular parcel 

of ground that's in the vicinity of already existing gravel 

mines is significant. The fact that it's currently existing as 

farm property is significant because it's still part of what we 

would consider to be an appropriate use in that area.  

 

We can't overstate it enough the need for gravel and the need 

for it to be relatively affordable. The further you transport it, 

the more the cost goes up. And that cost makes it so that it’s 

not affordable to build in Pocatello, Chubbuck, or within the 

county. If you have to ship the gravel from someplace outside 

of the county, it becomes cost prohibitive to do business in 

the county. It becomes cost prohibitive to do business in 

Chubbuck or Pocatello. So that's another reason that this is an 

important asset for the community. It's important for 

development. It's consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.  

 

I'll turn just a few minutes over to John because I know he 

wants to address some of those issues as well because that's 

their product.  

Tristan Bourquin: So Reed, John actually has his own time that's been ceded to 

him as well. So unless you're –    

Reed Larsen: We’ll just let him do some and then I'll come back.  

Tristan Bourquin: Okay. 

John Wilkes: Thank you. I just wanted to address a couple things. The first 

is the mining of the aggregate. Aggregate is rock and sand. 

Sand is so inert that we go and lay on the beach and bathe in 

sunlight. 

 

The type of customers that we have: the Federal Aviation 

Administration; Department of Transportation; Idaho 

Department of Public Works; Western Federal Highways, all 

have specifications of durability, soundness and hardness. 

And so in short, to say that all aggregate is the same is a lie.  

 

So some might say, “Well, why do you mine it there? Why 

don't you go over to that empty field out of town?” It's kind 

of like saying, “Why don’t you go to that empty field and 

start mining for gold?” You only get it where Mother Nature 
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has deposited it. And the aggregates through this area were 

deposited by the Lake Bonneville flooding that happened 

hundreds of years ago. So our research shows that there's a 

very finite deposit in our area of quality aggregates that could 

be recovered.  

 

I also just want to talk, if you notice, just by –  it'll probably 

be redundant to have all of our employees come up here and 

offer testimony. A few of them came up. If you notice the 

time – the years of service with the company, 20 years, 16 

years. Personally, I've been with the company for 21 going 

on 22 years. Our company's been a proud part of this 

community since 1973. And that kind of longevity and 

staying power only exists when you play by the rules and you 

do things the right way.  

 

Regardless of what people think, we're encouraged to take 

care of our employees. In fact, we pay a very good wage for 

our employees. We also make them a full complement of 

benefits, health, vision, dental, so that they can truly raise 

their families here, live here and exist here. And we do this 

because when you boil us down, we're really just a company 

of people that work each and every day.  

 

So our continuously-improving safety culture means that 

everybody goes home at the end of every shift. We do not 

operate if it's not safe. I'm going to say that one more time, 

we do not operate if it's not safe. Everybody on our crew, 

from the foreman down to the newest laborer is completely in 

power to shut any project down if it's not safe. And we invest 

in training, training, training.  

 

I just – in conclusion to that thought, I just wanted to share 

with you a line from our company mission statement, which 

says, “We champion sustainability, empowerment, and 

employee development.” So a lot of the people that are here 

tonight have started as laborers, as pipe fitters, and they have 

worked their way up to roles as general managers, chief 

estimators, vice presidents, project managers. They've truly 

come from the ground up and have been given an 

opportunity. And I appreciate the company that I represent 

because they give us that type of experience and opportunity 

for all of this. Thank you for letting me share. 

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, John.  

Reed Larsen: Thank you. Reed Larsen again.  
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Tristan Bourquin: Reed, the laptop disconnected. If you want to push the cord 

back in. There we go. We got it.  

Reed Larsen: That fourth element with this project would be, “This use 

would be consistent with the comprehensive policies and 

plans. I think we've provided you with a good basis to see, 

that one, this is a need for the community. Two, that we have 

the materials, we have the resources, we have the ability to 

do it. And three, that we're committed to do it right, do it 

safely, and to be a good neighbor.  

 

The fifth element is, “The proposed design would not – 

would be compatible in the terms of building height, scale, 

setbacks, and open space.” We talked about this briefly at the 

start. There's going to be a buffer around the outside 

perimeter of the mine. That buffer will be 12-feet high, 12 

feet from the road height. It would mean that you wouldn't be 

able to look in and see it. The operation’s inside. It also has 

effects for providing a nice open space look with the trees 

and vegetation that will be planted on that and, you know, 

provide a home for wildlife and birds and other aspects of it 

that makes it pleasing to drive past.  

 

Another benefit that it has is, as it relates to complaints, could 

be made, would be noise. That buffer helps absorb the noise 

and sound that comes from the mine. The operation hours 

also help make sure that that's not during times that wouldn't 

be appropriate to be operating equipment.  

 

Those setbacks may – I talked about them briefly as well; the 

berm, the landscaping and the open space in the residential 

area I think are important because on three sides of this – or 

excuse me, two sides of this – are already uses, either mining 

or agriculture and so those are really not much different. It's 

the residential side and again, it's on the east side that that 

residential use is, and that's why we're proposing that 

additional buffers, you know, with the canal in between it, 

which also provides another natural barrier. 

 

All of those things being said, we are committed to do this 

project right. We're committed to do it according to any 

concerns that you may have or any conditions you may have. 

We're committed that this will be a good project and a good 

resource for the county, a good resource for the people of 

Bannock County.  
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We looked, and I know that there's people who are not going 

to be as happy about having another gravel pit near their 

homes. Why – that's always the complaint, not in my 

neighborhood. I have to tell you, I live right next to the 

Bannock County landfill. And when I first moved there I 

thought, “Man, this is going to be an interesting adventure.”  

 

But the landfill, the County should be proud, it’s done right. 

And it is actually really quite nice to be that close to the 

landfill, to see how well it's done, which is exactly the 

commitment that this company's making is to do it right and 

it can be done right in the conditions and provisions that we 

provided, and the materials we provided. We intend to do it 

right. I wish I could take more time but I can’t. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you. Did we miss anybody who wanted to testify in 

favor? [inaudible 00:36:40]? Thank you. We've got Brody – 

I'm sorry, I don't know if it's Jones or not. He did not want to 

testify, but he did say he’s neutral on this. Just like with the 

folks that were in favor of the gravel pit, we'll move through 

those who are against it in the same manner. I'm reading 

these ones that do not want to testify. Correct?  

Tristan Bourquin: Correct.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. So you're going to have to bear with me because I am 

reading somebody else's handwriting, and as you can tell, I'm 

not a great reader in public, right? So, first one opposed is 

Darrell Shay. He's in opposition to the gravel pit. He says he 

serves on the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes Land Use 

Commission: “We are generally concerned with any 

development that has a negative impact on our tribal lands, 

which are adjacent to this property.” Thank you, Darrell.  

 

Next one is J.P. Sample. He's opposed to this application and 

does not wish to testify, but he says he lives right on Siphon 

Road: “We see the walkers, joggers, bikers all day, and these 

trucks pose a huge hazard to them. There is livestock all 

along the back that could also be in danger. The trucks, in 

December 2024, were extremely loud and disruptive to our 

comfort.” Thank you, J.P.  

 

Next one is Sophia Swanson. She's opposed also to this 

application: “We moved out to Rio Vista recently to be 

enjoying the quiet of the country. This is where we will 

retire, and hope to enjoy this country living, and avoid the 

business of the city.”  
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Next, we move on to Mike Powell. He's in opposition to this: 

“We are a community with bus stops and children, not a 

commercial truck route.”  

 

I'm going to stop thanking everybody individually, so thank 

you all for putting in your testimonies.  

 

Terry Whitney – I think that's right – he opposes it and does 

not wish to testify. Tyler Johnson, he opposes this. He says, 

“Truck safety, transportation of gravel and asphalt, and 

ecology concerns.”  

 

I'm apologizing again for slaughtering names, but Rebecca 

Falcone, she's in opposition, does not wish to testify. “It has 

become ridiculous that citizens must repeat themselves on 

this matter. The public doesn't want this; the area is not zoned 

for it. Just say, ‘no.’”  

 

Chris Robinson would like to oppose the application and 

does not wish to testify. Annmarie Russell also opposes the 

application and does not wish to testify. Stan Cole. He 

opposes the application, does not wish to testify, but, “Do not 

support noise, dust, and heavy traffic on this road.”  

 

D. Hanson opposes it, does not wish to testify, “There is no 

need to re-address this. The community does not want – they 

should not have to keep fighting the same issue.” Lonnie 

Kagans is in opposition, does not wish to testify, “We have 

too many pits around.” Janet Triple, opposition, does not 

wish to testify. K.T. Anderson, hope I got that right, is in 

opposition. He did not check whether he wants to testify or 

not. Do I just read his statement or is K.T. still here?  

Male: K.T.'s here, but how come you ain't given the addresses of 

the people that you – you’ve made everybody else state their 

addresses.  

Chair Ulrich: These will be part of the public record. 

Tristan Bourquin: Yeah. So since they're part of the record as written testimony, 

we have the addresses on file for public record.  

K.T. Anderson: Well, okay.  

Chair Ulrich: K.T.?  

K.T. Anderson: Yep. I've been here before.  
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Chair Ulrich: Thank you, sir.  

K.T. Anderson: What's that?  

Chair Ulrich: Name and address, sir.  

K.T. Anderson: Yeah. So anyway, the proposal, and the things, and the bullet 

points in my statement that were brought up by the company 

are all BS. I can go pinpoint by pinpoint and take you guys 

around, and I challenged you before to go up these gravel 

pits. There's seven of them within a three-mile radius there. 

Parsons has the berm on Philbin Road. I challenge you to 

drive by that and just see how pretty that weed patch is. They 

finally put another sprinkler system in. They do not keep that 

part of the bargain. We do not need another gravel pit. Like I 

said, there's seven gravel pits within a three-mile radius of 

that property. It's already zoned for 25 homes out there. 

There's 25 acre zoned commercial.  

 

Now, from a County standpoint, how much money are you 

going to make on the permit to mine this? I bet you can't tell 

me. How much money will the County make in 10 years on 

25 homes? Most of the homes that are out there in that 

neighborhood are $600,000 to $850,000, so the County is 

making $6,000, $7,000, $8,000, $10,000 a year in taxes. So 

when you look at the revenue stream, wouldn't the County 

rather have a revenue stream constant to the County of 

homes? Because that's where all the growth is going, ladies 

and gentlemen. Look at a build out from Chubbuck and 

Pocatello, it all goes north.  

 

Now, the reason they want to open that up is because their 

gravel pit’s about played out. And I understand that, they're 

going to have to find gravel. As far as jobs go, these big 

trucks and those side dumps, these guys, there's plenty of 

jobs out there, folks. I can get a job tomorrow driving one of 

those side dump trucks. There's plenty of them out there.  

 

One morning, I counted, out of the pit on Rio Vista Road, I 

counted 15 trucks one morning, coming out of there. Now, 

it's a safety concern because you've got a two-lane road out 

there and you don't have room to turn, especially with those 

big side dumps. 

 

And in the spring, I don't care what our people say in Road 

and Bridge, in the spring, you think those trucks aren't going 

to damage that road? Guaranteed that'll ruin our road out 
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there and it's going to cost the County more money to repair 

it. So, when you think about this, you need to think about the 

tax revenue that can be generated from this property because 

it is already zoned to have houses in it. 

Council Member Selleneit: That's past your time, sir. Thank you. 

K.T. Anderson: That's all I got to say.  

Chair Ulrich: And I went a little bit out of order, that was my fault, but – all 

right. We’ve got James and Annette Mowrey, they're in 

opposition. I'm just reading this. It says, “Complete BS.” 

Thanks for not making me swear.  

 

Jason Christensen is in opposition and does not wish to 

testify. David Decato is in opposition: “Too much truck 

traffic, gravel on the road, safety concerns for bike riding.” 

James, I think it might say, “Smart?” I apologize if it's not. In 

opposition, does not wish to testify, “My choice to purchase 

property by the pig farm on [inaudible 00:46:10] gravel pit 

would be my problem, doesn't cause my choice after the 

purchase, 18-wheel side dumps are already causing grief. 

With gravel pit and hot plant, don't tell me things will stay 

the same in the neighborhood, especially the smell from a hot 

plant.”  

 

Tadraschell Murray is in opposition. The grav – she did not 

check whether she wanted to testify or not. Is she still here? 

Would you like to testify?  

Tadraschell Murray: No sir.  

Chair Ulrich: I'll read it. Thank you. And again, if I messed up your name, 

I apologize.  

Tadraschell Murray: Oh, you got it right. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: “This gravel pit will have a negative impact on the land, 

traffic, water, and the air. The animals will – and will damage 

the earth. I live across the street and do not support this. 

There is a bald eagle’s nest on the property across the road. 

And as a Shoshone-Bannock tribal member, the tribe should 

have been properly notified. We were not notified.”  

 

Brandon White is in opposition, does not wish to testify: “We 

just moved out of the city to enjoy the quiet not-so-busy on 

this road. I'm worried about all the traffic, more accidents, 

getting chipped windshields.” 
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Shayna Martin opposes this and does not wish to testify. 

Arlene Christman opposes it, does not wish to testify. “We 

oppose because we live – we believe we need to retain some 

good farm ground for free purposes.”  

 

Heather Jones is in opposition and does not wish to testify. 

Julia Palmer is in opposition, does not wish to testify. Julie 

states, “I'm opposed based on the lower property values, not 

in-line with county zoning, compromised air quality, traffic 

impact, road not prepared for heavy equipment. This type of 

industry is not conducive with this residential zoning.”  

 

Justin Kline, he opposes the application and does not wish to 

testify. Justin Jones, opposes the application and does wish to 

testify. So we'll get you in just a second when we get to this 

next group. Keith Davies opposes it, does not wish to testify. 

“Please follow the long-term comprehensive plan for that 

area of Bannock County.” Preston Buckskin opposes the 

application, does not wish to testify.  

 

All right, we've got a number of folks that do wish to testify, 

so I will call up first Justin Jones. And then right after Justin, 

we'll have Wes Johnson, if you could be ready, and then Toni 

O'Brien. So first Justin Jones.  

Justin Jones: So my name is Justin Jones. I am born and raised here in 

Poky. I did not want to testify, but since I put it down, I guess 

I will.  

Council Member Selleneit: Address please. 

Justin Jones: What's that?  

Council Member Selleneit: Your address.  

Justin Jones: Address is .  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you.  

Justin Jones: A couple of things that I've seen tonight or heard tonight are 

like, they want to say how great the company is and their 

goals and everything else like that, which is phenomenal. I 

think that's great. But anybody in here that works for 

anybody or owns their own business has those exact same 

goals. Everybody strives for perfection. Everybody sets goals 

for their employees to achieve, and excel, and move up in the 

company, and everything else.  
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Being a business owner, I'm a builder here in Pocatello, some 

of those houses out there that we're building – we've built 

quite a few out there – they’re million-dollar houses. And I 

promise you it's going to impact the sale of these houses 

when you have to tell homeowners that are moving from out-

of-town or whatever they’re at that there's going to be 

another hot plant coming in. 

 

Being part of Pocatello, one thing that draws people is like, 

you can get out. You don't have to sit in front of, you know, 

hundreds and hundreds of people to enjoy the community. 

You can go for a bike ride. You can go for a run. What's 

going to happen when one of these big trucks runs over, we'll 

say, my wife, because she’s a bike rider out there? Or, 

because there's no room, like they want to say that the streets 

are built for these big trucks. They're not. There's no room for 

bikes. There's no room for runners. And so when they get 

gravel on the road, then the bike people have to move further 

into the road. So what's going to happen when one of these 

people gets killed? It’s going to be a huge, huge, huge mess. 

 

The gravel on the road, I'm sure there's going to be gravel all 

over the road. There has to be. They're not going to clean the 

roads off every single day. So what happens when these 

guy’s driving out there? You get rock chips. I mean, they say 

that they're set up for stuff like this, but are they really set up 

for this, like when they kill someone? So I’d just say, let's 

think about it before we do something. I don't see how this 

will positively affect our community, especially when people 

enjoy it so much. Thank you for your time. 

Chair Ulrich: Thanks, Justin. I’m sorry. Yep.  

Wes Johnson: Good evening. Everybody hear me okay? Wes Johnson, 

. I'd like to applaud the aggregate 

mining community that's here in Pocatello. They're a big part 

of this community, and I appreciate them, and I appreciate all 

the folks who work in that industry.  

 

To preface my testimony, I worked for the large – at one 

point in my life, I worked for the largest aggregate producer 

in the United States. I’ve overseen several pits and overseen 

several crushing operations. One of our largest concerns was 

dust abatement and noise abatement. The industry has a great 

standard for their employees. You know, they make sure that 

they all have the correct PPE. They go through hours and 
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tons of training to make sure that their safety is utmost and 

forefront. They have a great process.  

 

However, those of us that live in that area, we do not have a 

safety program. There's no one there to make sure that our 

safety is going to be forefront, so the dust and the noise 

abatement is a large concern for us. There's homes right on 

the edge of this proposed pit. Who's going to make sure that 

those folks are fitted with a respirator if they need, maybe 

because the dust is too high? 

 

When I worked in the industry, we fit-tested our employees if 

the dust was an issue. They had to be fit-tested and wear a 

respirator. They have to wear hearing protection. That's a 

standard industry – I mean, an industry standard. They have 

to do those things daily. There's no one out there going to 

make sure that any of us in that area are fitted with 

respirators or that we need to be fitted with respirators. 

There’s nobody there that’s going to make sure that our 

hearing protection – I wear hearing aids today, because I 

worked in that industry without them. At the time I worked in 

them, it wasn't a big deal. We didn't have to wear them. So 

those are large concerns.  

 

Again, I applaud those people. Everybody needs a job. I 

know they're trying to do the best that they can, but for those 

of us who live in that area, I just feel that those needs are not 

going to be addressed. And if they're – I realize there are 

pressing needs, they're going to put up berms, they're going 

to do everything they can. I get that. I appreciate that. 

However, in the future if you drive around gravel pits 

anywhere, you'll see that the vegetation out there are affected 

by the dust. So all of those residences are going to be 

affected. Their yards are going to be affected. Their trees are 

going to be affected. Our prevailing winds, our right front 

winds come off of the west, northwest, southwest, and we 

have signs out on the interstate that declare high-wind areas. 

We get a lot of wind out there. So, working in that industry, 

as I said, that's the big one, a huge issue for us. 

Chair Ulrich: Thanks, Wes.  

Wes Johnson: Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Toni. While she's coming up, I need to apologize to Darrell 

Shay. I did not turn over the paper, so you got a second, I'm 

going to read this and then – Darrell. I'll read this one first. 
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Esther Carlson is in opposition and does not wish to testify.  

 

So Darrell Shay serves on the Bannock-Shoshone Tribal 

Land Use Commission: “We are generally concerned with 

any development that has a negative impact on our tribal 

lands, which are adjacent to this property.” I failed to turn it 

over. 

 

“To most folks, this area may feel like it is out of town, but to 

our tribal people, this is our home. We have recently started 

development of affordable homes within two miles from this 

area. Also, we planned some housing units across the 

Laughran Road, about 150 to 200 yards away. We will have 

families with kids living across the street. This is a safety 

concern. We have a long-standing dispute with FMC and JR 

Simplot about their air pollutants. This facility will only add 

to it.  

 

“It is in an area of impact in the Bannock County Comp Plan. 

The SB, Shoshone-Bannock Tribe would have to be notified 

and have a comment. There are other jurisdictional issues 

that will come up. That is my concern and my opposition to 

this project, and I live within five miles downwind, so I am 

doubly concerned. Thank you, Darrell Shay.”  

 

Thanks, Darrell. Toni,  thank you.  

Toni O’Brien: Hi, I'm Toni O'Brien. I live at  I'm right 

across from where they're going to try and put this. And I'm 

going to tell you right here and now, that's not going to work 

very well out there. If any of you are familiar with Siphon 

Hill, down in the bottoms, river bottoms, going down through 

that river bottom. If somebody is down in that river bottom, 

coming up that hill, that truck pulling out cannot see them.  

 

I can't tell you how many times I've pulled from Laughran 

Road onto Siphon and almost got rear-ended because 

somebody coming up Siphon Hill didn't see me in time. So 

that's a huge issue, I mean, there's no way a truck trailer and 

tug are going to get out there faster than my little car does. I 

might speed a little.  

 

And then the other thing that I have is if you look at Siphon 

Road, I drive every morning over on Tank Farm Road where 

the gravel pits are. And I can tell you what happens a lot in 

the morning. The trucks are waiting to get into those different 
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gravel pits, they pull over to the right-hand shoulder of the 

road blocking almost the entire right-hand road, and it's going 

to happen on here.  

 

So, if you envision this – and you are missing a house on the 

map here, just so you know, there's more houses than what 

it's showing across from this proposed site – but if you line 

up those trucks on the right-hand side of that road, then when 

the school buses come in the morning, in the dark – because 

these kids have to catch the bus early, they're out there in the 

dark – here comes the school bus, they're having to go down 

the center of the road because the trucks are taking the right-

hand side. 

 

Now, somebody coming to work from the opposite direction, 

they're going to have to be over on the shoulder of the road. 

Where do you think the kids are waiting for the bus? On the 

shoulder of that road. About the time some kid gets hit and 

killed out there, because we have to line up every morning, 

that's a big issue. We have little kids that ride their bikes out 

there. They ride their horses out there. They walk their dogs 

out there. There's kids that live there and play there. I don't 

want to see those kids ran over. They deserve the 

environment that they chose to live in. They chose to live in a 

place where they could go and play. They can't do that with 

those trucks going all day.  

 

The other thing is they said that it’s not going to affect our 

groundwater. My well is at 80-foot deep. They're proposing 

digging down at least 50-feet. That's going to have an impact 

on my well water. And it’s going to – they're right by the 

canal so anything that gets into the canal goes down. And all 

the horses, all the cattle, dogs, cats, people, anything, kids 

playing in the ditches, all of that's going to be contaminated if 

they have any sort of a spill. There's things that, you know, I 

don't want to find out a year later, “Oh, we contaminated 

your well, we'll have to fix it.” That does me no good after a 

year. And then the other thing I'd like to bring up is they said, 

“Oh, look at how –.”    

Council Member Selleneit: I’m sorry, ma’am, but that’s your time. 

Toni O’ Brien: Okay. But their pits don't look like Freeman Park when 

they're done.  

Chair Ulrich: Berta Hadley, then we'll have Jay Douglas Zitterkopf, and 

then Cassandra Wadsworth.  
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Berta Hadley: Hi, I'm Berta Hadley and I'm a resident of Laughran Road. 

I'm also a member of Sho-Ban Tribes and a landowner right 

there on the corner of Tyhee and Laughran Road. And I've 

been watching for the past six months, the development that's 

going on out there, and all these people have a very valid 

concern.  

 

I'm concerned about my private land and trust. We're losing a 

lot of wildlife. We're concerned about non-regulated things 

like sand blasting, that they come when you start to 

industrialize these areas. Our roads are not made for such 

heavy travel. Some of the infrastructure's a hundred years old 

out there, bridges and stuff like that. You can't make a 

Cadillac out of a Volkswagen.  

They have to go in and redo this stuff or the County and 

everybody else is just going to end up doing this, you know?  

 

And as far as what we're reading, we would like to see some 

data from the EPA and some data from Region 5, which this 

is for health and safety. I've been an employee for the State 

of Idaho. I've worked for the district and I realize there are a 

lot of service providers from nurses, doctors, teachers, Head 

Start all traveling, these roads in small unmarked cars, 

delivering services to these people.  

 

And some of our families have been there over 200 years. I 

just retired. I'm home. I put $50,000 into my property on 

Laughran Road. If this goes through, it’s going to impact 

health. We already have health issues in that area: thyroid, 

breathing – and you can look this data up, it's there. And all I 

would like to say is, please consider the wildlife and the 

people that have been there for generations.  

 

And we also have treaty rights and we also have the Indian 

Right Act, and have any of these things been brought forward 

or discussed with us? And there's my two minutes, so please. 

And now I speak for a lot of people. I speak for animals and 

everything that lives out there, our water's important. I have a 

well, I'd like to be sure I can use it, that it doesn't run dry. 

Thank you. I appreciate your time and I think all these people 

have valid concerns and we'd like to see some real data. 

Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Berta. Thank you, Berta. Douglas.  

Douglas Zitterkopf: Yes, sir. Second long night for you, gentlemen.  
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Chair Ulrich: Yes.  

Douglas Zitterkopf: My name is Douglas Zitterkopf. I live at . 

The Comprehensive Zoning Plan shows a rural and 

residential zone through this area planned for housing, rural-

residential housing. Mining is not rural-residential. Mining is 

a heavy industrial zone. It is this way because it infringes on 

everybody around it.  

 

There is no buffer between this land and the houses that are 

already there. A 12-foot berm of dirt is not a buffer. Taxes 

paid for this would not compare to taxes already being paid 

by the people that live out there, and it would not compare to 

the taxes that will be paid by the people that build out there in 

the future. A single entity or a landowner's profit does not 

override the rights of thousands of people who already live 

out there or will live out there in the future. You guys have a 

golden rule that says, “Will this negatively or positively 

impact the people around this area?” This is a negative 

impact.  

 

I’ve worked in a mine in Questa, New Mexico. Chevron 

bought the mine and was given the choice of doing a cleanup 

or having a superfund cleanup on this. The people that own 

the mine treat the people quite well. They had high, high 

expectations of quality of life. Questa is now a ghost town, 

houses are rotting to the ground because people closed that 

mine down and left. Chevron bought it, hoping they would 

come back.  

 

Danger to the people in the area from health hazards and 

increased heavy traffic from the trucking. A hundred fifty 

trucks is a lot more than what we originally told last year and 

is way more than what we could handle in this area for 

safety. There are a lot of bicyclers and a lot of joggers, a lot 

of people. This is not a good place to have that kind of heavy 

trucking in one place where all these people are trying to live 

and explore, have recreation out in the area. It says, “The 

danger to the people and the health hazards is increased with 

heavy trucking.”  

 

And this is not just farming dust. It’s dust from gravel and 

silica. Silica gravel and dust is a lot different than just dirt 

blowing across the road. Jobs from this will be nowhere 

equal to the value of the life of people and their houses and 

their property that will be affected.  
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Council Member Selleneit: Thank you sir. That's your time.  

Chair Ulrich: Thanks Douglas. Cassandra Wadsworth. After Cassandra 

we’ll have John Crowder. 

Cassandra Wadsworth: Hi, I actually didn't [inaudible 01:07:19] check the form box, 

but [inaudible 01:07:23].  

Chair Ulrich: Name and address.  

Cassandra Wadsworth: Oh, sorry. My name is Cassandra Wadsworth. 

Chair Ulrich: [inaudible 01:07:25] these are sensitive.  

Walworth: And I live at  So I'm the house closest to 

the border of Siphon and Laughran. We moved out there with 

our kids, and actually my sister-in-law is leasing the land, 

living next door to us, so she'll be even closer to that road 

even. So, you know, everyone's talking about their family, 

they want to do what's best for their families with their jobs. 

But we're trying to do what’s best for our family living right 

there. And thinking about, you know, we're starting a garden, 

we're starting all these things with our kids and I'm worried 

about, you know, what everyone else is worried about, the 

water, the land, everything.  

 

But also we weren't even notified about anything and we live 

right across the street. The only reason why we found out is 

from Facebook and all of our nice new neighbors we've met 

that have come over to our door and told us about all this. 

But myself, our neighbors, all the tribal neighbors never got 

the letters in the mail to say, “Hey, write this letter to the City 

or anything.” We weren't even notified. So I find it 

interesting that we're the ones closest right there to that 

intersection we didn't even know, and the sign on the corner, 

I guess.  

 

But anyway, that's our biggest concern. I wrote a little 

paragraph of things like, you know, everyone's talking about 

the dust and how the farm also produces a lot of dust and 

stuff. But we've lived there now for a couple years and I don't 

feel like the farms have put off that much in comparison to – 

our in-laws who live next door have a place in Blackfoot and 

theirs was far worse than anything we've experienced with 

farming. So it’s just my two cents, but I just would like to say 

more and more, too, I feel like the tribe is kind of not notified 

as much, so.  
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Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Cassandra.  

Cassandra Wadsworth: Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: John. 

John Crowder: Good evening. My name is John Crowder. I'm a former 

Bannock County Commissioner and one of the main jobs of 

commissioners is to protect the health and welfare of our 

citizens.  

Council Member Selleneit: Address, John. Address.  

John Crowder: I'm sorry? 

Council Member Selleneit: Address.  

John Crowder: Yes, sir. My address is , Pocatello, 

Idaho 83201. I'm opposed to this application. I want to walk 

through the criteria by which you need to make a decision. 

Regarding surrounding land use: owns, exist, or plans right 

up to the proposed area for this gravel pit, such an industrial 

use, such as proposed, is not compatible with land in 

agriculture and residential use. Traffic: an increase in traffic 

of 150 truckloads per day is a dramatic traffic increase.  

 

Health: I have personally visited with families that cannot 

keep their windows open during the summer due to the 

extreme dust conditions from existing gravel pits. You have 

residences here right up to the proposed pit. Those 

homeowners will absolutely suffer adverse health conditions. 

I would also like to add my agreement to the lady that just 

spoke about the concerns with the kids waiting for buses, 

riding horses, riding for bicycles in the area. That's also a 

very dangerous health risk. 

 

Comprehensive Plan: The Comprehensive Plan has 

residences right up to the area of the proposed gravel pit. 

Factoring in wind conditions, you will absolutely, the 

homeowner in this area, suffer adverse health consequences. 

For all of these reasons, and for the fact that it will infringe 

upon our tribal neighbors, I urge you to reject this proposal. 

Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thanks, John. Are we at 90 minutes yet? I just want to make 

sure somebody's – okay. We're good. All right. We will now 

hear from David Packer. We've got a number of folks that 

have given their time to David. You got 18 minutes. After 
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David we will have Mark Farnworth and he's also going to 

have some minutes from some other folks.  

David Packer: I think that’s probably too close. I thank you for your time. 

My name is Dave Packer. I live at  I've 

been a real estate broker for 30 years. I've been a builder and 

contractor for 35 years, and I also was the Bannock County 

Assessor for four years. I want to make a little comparison 

here with my area. Where we live is called Lacey Acres. We 

have 175 acres roughly in that subdivision. Each one of the 

lots are approximately two and a half acres. It gives you 

enough room for a house and two acres left over for either a 

horse, or cows, or whatever else you’d like to have.  

 

When you look at this, you have to wonder what's going to 

change next door or who's going to change it. But when you 

look at it, I got to tell you, this acreage is a fun place to live. 

Our water bill is $300 a year for domestic water, $300. I buy 

pasture water for $365 a year, and I pay to Fort Hall $165. 

How you can have two and a half acres with an incredible 

water bill, and it's good water, and that water just feeds all 70 

homes. You get [inaudible 01:13:49] put a big generator out 

there and that's fine, you know, but when the power goes off, 

we still have water.  

 

So let's take that as a comparison and move over to the other 

area here. The other area that we're talking about that they 

want to make into the gravel pit is approximately 158 acres. 

As a builder and contractor, you can put about 63 homes with 

two-and-a-half-acre lots in that same area. When it comes to 

zoning, you always want to make sure that zoning matches 

the zoning that's already in the neighborhood. I don't think 

putting a gravel pit next to a residential subdivision is exactly 

apples and apples, if you know what I mean.  

 

This is prime ground for development: it's flat, it has water. 

It's about a quarter mile from the sewer line. It's already got 

irrigation water going right in the middle of it, as you can 

see, and this is what it should be. You should be going ahead 

and developing into another subdivision, which is equal to 

the one that’s next-door to it.  

 

Having 200 trucks a day running down your driveway is not 

a good thing. We have school buses, walkers, bikers. The 

neighborhood is always growing anyway. I believe they’ll be 

putting in something like almost 50 homes out in that area on 
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the roads from Siphon and from Rio Vista. This thing is 

turning into a residential area. It doesn't need another gravel 

pit. And all the gravel pit is going to do is devaluate home 

prices. As a realtor, I'll tell you, you know, we've got 70 

homes on our street, and they're all valued probably about 

$650,000 on average. But when they come up for sale, 

they're sold in about 30 to 35 days, you know, because a lot 

of people want to have a house with a little acreage, so this is 

a very important sales factor.  

 

Putting a gravel pit somewhere where another subdivision 

should go is not economically-enhanced for anybody up and 

down that road. And when they have a gravel pit like that and 

you're running those trucks in and out, none of them have 

coverage. They all have these little signs on the back that 

says, “Stay back 500 feet. We don't buy windows.” You 

know, that ought to be a clue to you that there's an issue. And 

even if it’s not your car that is getting the broken the window, 

that gravel is still going onto the road and the next car that 

goes by could [inaudible 01:16:58] that up. It’d be like 

walking through a warzone. So I'm opposed to this. This is 

just a bad, bad, bad idea. I appreciate your time. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Mr. Packer.  

Mark Farnworth:  I think I'm next, sir. Mark Farnworth, is that right?  

Chair Ulrich: Yep. We’ll do Mark and then we’ll take a quick break.  

Mark Farnworth: I understood that if I referred to a study I needed to provide 

you a copy. Do you want those now, sir?  

Chair Ulrich: Yes, please.  

Male: Four copies.  

Mark Farnworth: With respect, I hope  

. So on the map 

there we're about three in from this proposed operation. May 

I ask how much time I have, sir? I'm sorry.  

Chair Ulrich: You've got 15.  

Council Member Selleneit: Fifteen minutes.  

Farnworth: Fifteen minutes. Thank you very much. One of the things I 

wanted to bring up – as you say, I realize this is not a 

question and answer session but this is me, I guess, musing – 

but we have a gentleman behind me, the applicant, who said 
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that they work for a company that has a massive amount of 

integrity and I think that's great. The question arises with this 

integrity, why they continue to bring this question up over 

and over again.  

 

I believe that there have been some strategic positions played 

in order to be able to make this situation arise as it has again. 

Some of us have sat in hallways for hours waiting for 

commissions to be convened, and a lot of these folks who 

were paid to be here tonight didn't. They knew somehow the 

meetings weren't going to happen. And I believe that there 

were some strategic plans that were made by counsel behind 

us to ensure that those folks didn't have their time wasted, but 

we did.  

 

We’re all working for a living. Some of our folks, as you can 

tell, don't have a very easy time physically getting out to 

these meetings, but they try. The more and more you get us 

out here, the more and more you try to get us to stop coming. 

And that's not okay. The emails that we’ve received from 

within your company that indicate that you wanted to silence 

us are not okay.  

 

Now, I realize as a Council, you cannot make decisions based 

on emotion. There is a lot of emotion tonight, as you 

understand. If I could, let's talk about Ordinance 530, 

Conditional Uses. In the Bannock County Ordinances, it 

indicates that “a conditional use permit may be granted when 

it is not in conflict with the comprehensive plan. It may be 

granted only in the best interest of the general public,” as you 

know.  

 

The applicant, may I point out please, carries the burden, not 

the public, approving this. Counsel has presented to us a very 

rudimentary list of ideas, mostly referring to exhibits that you 

all have. Some of these exhibits, I would submit to you, are 

very airy. The so-called traffic study is not – it is an 

indication of what – in my estimation of whether or not the 

road can hold up to these vehicles – but it's not a true traffic 

study.  

 

Let me talk a little bit about something that's dear to my 

heart. So we have some young gentlemen who have talked 

about the fact that if we don't do this, their families are going 

to starve, which is kind of the underlying idea they presented. 

I don't want anybody to go hungry. But I want to tell you 
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something, I have worked very hard throughout my life to 

have a home and a lot of my savings has been put into my 

home. So if I need to, which in my life, I'll share something 

personally because I'm going to need to realize the equity in 

my home soon; this is going to impact me directly.  

 

So why is it okay for me to give up what I've worked for so 

that I can make sure your family's okay when mine's not? 

This is a tough decision for you guys, but in order for us to 

say that 530.6 is, if you will, affirmed, that it’s not going to 

adversely affect the surrounding properties to a materially – 

not metrically on your slide, sir – greater extent will be 

permitted in the district, we need to be clear about what's 

going to happen.  

 

Now, our counsel said that it’s discretionary – I believe the 

word you used, sir – as to whether or not values would 

change in real estate. It's not discretionary. I presented to you 

a meta analysis, if you will. It is a compilation of three 

different studies that show that there's an absolute direct 

correlation between a reduction in real estate value and the 

distance between this kind of open pit mining operation.  

 

So a home that's worth $500,000 on Lacey Road, within one 

quarter mile, could expect to lose $154,500 in value as soon 

as these folks put their operation into play. Is that okay? Is 

Mr. Wilkes going to pay me for that? Is he going to help me? 

Or is he going to go to the bank and take it from me which is 

exactly what’s going to –  

Council Member Selleneit: Sir, sir, can you address us? If you will, please. Thank you. 

Mark Farnworth: You bet. You bet. I think it's important that we understand 

that though. What is the difference in my mind between the 

applicant going to my bank and taking that out? There's not, 

in my mind. I work very, very hard to be able to support my 

family. If I need to realize this equity, I believe that it's my 

privilege and my opportunity to do so.  

 

Let's talk a little bit about this whole idea of Section B, 

“Proposed use will not cause undue disruption in travel.” So 

several years ago, you all may recall that we had a horrible 

accident at the intersection of Reservation Road and Rio 

Vista. It was fiery. Four people died. And I responded to it as 

a volunteer firefighter. That's one of the things that I deal 

with to this day.  
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So we've had another accident and each of these were not the 

fault of the truck drivers, but my point is not who's at fault, 

my point is as this traffic increases – and I would submit to 

you that this stretch of road with zero to 10 maybe big trucks 

a day to up to 50 in the last proposal or higher is an 

absolutely significant increase in volume of this kind of 

truck. Whoever's at fault it is, whether it's mine as the driver 

of a car or the truck, the accident is going to happen. When it 

does, the person in the smaller vehicle is going to be the one 

who has the injury likely.  

 

I had an experience recently at an intersection close to where 

I live, where I stopped and gratefully I hesitated, when a 

gravel truck owned by IMC blew a stop sign, turned into my 

lane and went past me. Now, we all make mistakes, so I'm 

not saying that, but we are experiencing – as some of my 

friends and neighbors have told you – this kind of thing going 

on more and more, as this truck traffic is increasing. This is a 

huge concern for us. Can I ask how much time I have, sir, 

please?  

Council Member Selleneit: Eight-and-a-half minutes.  

Mark Farnworth: Okay. Let me share with you something: I've been a 

volunteer firefighter in our area for about six years. We have 

a Volunteer Fire Department that covers our area. We have a 

Volunteer Search and Rescue Department through the 

County Sheriff that covers extrication and heavy rescue. So 

let's just imagine for a moment thinking about is this going to 

cause undue harm? Is it going to be good for the general 

public? What happens when there's an accident and someone 

is trapped?  

 

Let me talk to you a little bit about how this works from a 

first responder perspective. A 911 call goes out, okay? Say 

there's an accident, heaven forbid it's a gravel truck operator 

that's trapped or someone else. There is an immediate law 

enforcement response and an ambulance is dispatched if 

there's any concern about an injury from Bannock County 

Ambulance. The closest ambulance is at Pocatello Fire 

Department Station on Pocatello Creek Road across from 

Sizzler, if that ambulance isn't out already. So you can 

imagine for us how long it takes for an ambulance to come 

out to us. At that point, there is no automatic fire response. 

There is no automatic search and rescue response. If law 

enforcement sees a fire, they see an entrapment, then they 

can call.  
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So we're volunteers, right? Fire department is volunteering, 

so is search and rescue. We try to do everything we can to be 

as fast as possible. Right now it is eight to nine minutes 

before we can get a truck on the road. So now you're talking 

about a delay from when the police department and the 

sheriff in this case has said, “Hey, we need this other 

service,” to us getting there, getting on the road. Then you're 

looking at another 10 minutes to get out. We're talking about 

20, 25 minutes.  

 

Why do I bring this up? Maybe it sounds like this doesn't 

have anything to do with what we're talking about tonight. 

One of my points is, the infrastructure that we're dealing 

with, which has been brought up tonight, is not adequate for 

this kind of operation. We have gravel pits throughout this 

area adding more to an even thinly-stretched first responder 

network is not going to help us. It makes it much harder for 

us to respond. People are going to get hurt, people are going 

to be injured. Is that what we want?  

 

So I’d like to comment about something as well that I think is 

very important. I have found it a blessing in my life to have 

some of my best friends be Native American people and 

people of our current tribal neighbors. I think that it is 

important that we understand that they base their housing 

plans in some part on the County's Comprehensive Plan.  

 

If we turn our backs on them, as I see it, and ignore the fact 

that they're planning for housing – like has been said here, 

this map is not up-to-date. We have tribal friends and 

neighbors who live right across from where this is proposed 

and they're not on this plot map.  How will the tribe even 

trust the County's plan even more? They already, I believe, 

have some difficulty trusting the plans because of 

experiences they've had in the past. I don't think it's okay for 

us to be able to not honor the relationship that we have, that 

we're trying to grow with our tribal friends and neighbors.  

 

So let me just end with this, please. In short, this proposal is 

wrong on so many levels. I have no problem with any of the 

issues that are brought up about how important aggregates 

are, how foundationally important they are to building – 

absolutely 100% agree. This is the wrong place. We have 

young children, we have people with COPD, asthma, on 

oxygen. We have elderly folks. Putting a mining operation in 
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the middle of this is not okay. The landowner has every, 

every right to sell this land, but we also have every right to be 

able to maintain the lands that we have and our way of life. 

Thank you very much.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Mark. We'll take a quick five-minute recess and 

then we'll come back with Wade. You’ll start. 

[Break 01:28:19 – 01:42:19] 

Wade Egan: Are we recording? We’re good? 

Tristan Bourquin: Yes. 

Chair Ulrich: Yes, we’re good.  

Wade Egan: Wade Egan, 1  Pocatello, Idaho. Board 

members, thank you so much for your service. This is not an 

easy thing to do. By the way, what do I have as time? 

[Inaudible 01:42:46]. I have something like 12 minutes. I 

won’t need 12 minutes. 

 

I know how hard it is. This is a difficult position you're in. 

For everybody's information, I was appointed to this council 

a number of years ago. I did a couple years as chairman of 

the council and so I understand what this is like. So thank 

you so much for what you're doing. You do it for free. 

You’ve been doing this sometimes with abuse, but most of 

the time good people really appreciate it. So thank you for 

taking the time to listen to us. So, appreciate that very much.  

 

I'm also very appreciative of those who have – who are 

promoting this. I’m appreciative of the way they've done it. I 

appreciate that they put together a really nice proposal. I 

mean, it's as thorough as I've ever seen. I’ve read almost all 

of them. I've read almost every single letter in opposition – 

there's a lot of them in this – and I'm sure you have as well 

because you had to prepare for tonight. Mr. Larsen is a good 

man who represents them, who I've been friends with for a 

long time. And he could make 15 minutes – make 90 minutes 

feel like 15 or 15 feel like 90, so we appreciate you tonight 

that you didn’t take your full 93. 

 

But all that being said, I want to give a little bit of 

background as to where we are with this comprehensive plan. 

The last comprehensive plan was developed when I was on 

the board, when I was on this board. The comprehensive plan 

takes a long time to build. Mr. Jensen knows this. This 
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planning staff knows. There are hearings, there are meetings, 

there are community outreach and activities. We hire a 

consultant. We pay good money for this as a county. We 

have to redo this every certain number of years. Well, right 

now I think we’re redoing this again, right? Preparing for the 

next one.  

 

And so what was done in the comprehensive plan and the 

future land use maps that were developed were there not just 

by some half-a-chance thing. So what we have here is these 

maps and these documents that will guide County growth for 

the X number of years until the State mandates that we redo 

them again and so that's why we're here tonight, because 

we've got some things in regard to the ordinance and with 

regards to those plans.  

 

As you look at this application tonight, there's a number of 

places that just don't seem to fit. This doesn't seem to fit. It 

doesn't fit in the future land use map designation. It doesn't fit 

well in what we’ve decided, what was in the comprehensive 

plan. The way we are to drive county growth. As a county, I 

really believe as a property owner, the property rights are 

right up there along with free speech, that people should have 

the right to buy and enjoy property as best they can, to the 

whole extent of it. But from time-to-time we have to guide 

the growth. And we have –  we live as a community. We 

have to live together and figure out a way to guide growth. 

And I think we've done a better job of that in the last several 

years than we had years previous, so the growth has been 

better. So it has to be engineered-growth.  

 

This area was designated as the place for the overflow of all 

the growth that’s going on in the north-end of the county. 

Now, we've got a lot of growth out here. This is where it's 

going to begin, [inaudible 01:46:10]. We’re probably going 

to invite a lot of people into our state over the next number of 

years. These numbers of forecasted growth may be low, and 

we’re going to need a place for them to live and be.  

 

I also understand a little bit about gravel. I have a brother 

who has a construction company and a set of gravel trucks in 

Northern Utah. And I understand that people have to make a 

living doing what they do with this. And buildings have to be 

built. But in this specific spot, this is a perfect place to build 

homes. It's level. It fits right along with the existing housing. 

It's already there. It'd be one thing if we were trying to build 

187 BOARD OF BANNOCK COUNTY COMMISSIONERS - MEETING TUESDAY, MARCH 25, 2025



 

 

 

January 16, 2025 Council Meeting  

AudioClerk Transcription 

 

34 

houses next to a gravel pit that was already existing. They 

were already there first, in that case it would be that situation. 

But this isn't the case with this; we're putting a gravel pit 

right there in a mining operation.  

 

I've spent two different times – I've went out and sat at the 

corner out there of this piece of property and there's a piece 

of property right there by – and it’s owned by Castle 

Concrete, where they've had a mining operation there before. 

And there's a berm around that. But I think probably when 

they put that in, they thought that's going to be a really great, 

great thing. They're going to build trees, they're going to kind 

of hide this. There's a big chain-link fence around it.  

 

But the truth is right now it's a mess. It is completely covered 

with bull thistle from one end of the other. It's probably 

spreading that stuff all over the County. They probably need 

to be cited for it and that parcel ought to be cleaned up. It is 

just a mess. And because we don't know, I don't know how 

many years ago that was done, but in these situations it's very 

hard to regulate from today what will happen 40 years from 

now.  

 

Maybe the only way to do that with this kind of a situation, if 

you decide to pass or approve this CUP, was to invite the 

company – is to require them to have a bond for reclamation, 

and park install, and all those other things to be a part of this 

project because it's really hard to enforce it. It's very difficult 

to, in the sense of – for analogy, to get the money for the hay 

after it's been run through the cow. Okay? And so it's really 

hard. And good and honorable people are here today, but 

who knows who's going to be in-charge of this 10 or 15 or 20 

years from now when the mining operation finally concludes. 

 

So, I think you want to consider that as we do this here. 

Again, if we follow the Comprehensive Plan, this does not 

clearly fit and it does not fit to the intent of what it was, at 

least as I understood it, as a member of this council, when it 

was approved, passed, ratified by the county commissioners 

– that very long, extensive, laborious process that we went 

through to get to this point.  

 

So with that in mind, I would just like to make one last little 

point –  and they've already made it, but it's not – it's 

probably not the best use for that piece of property. You have 

60 houses that were built there. Jay Christensen tells me he’ll 
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probably testify on this later, that [inaudible 01:49:01] closer 

to 100 homes on that if it were zoned correctly and [inaudible 

01:49:04] suggest it.  

 

But at $500,000, that's 60 homes, that's $30 million in home 

construction. That's a lot of jobs, that's a lot of construction 

materials. Gravel is a little part of that. It's not a huge part, it's 

just a small part of that. Gravel might have to be trucked in if 

we don't have it. We'll have to pay those costs. As a 

community, we'll have to pay them. These workers will have 

to probably move to other places. It won't be as convenient 

for them to work at. But as we look at it as a community – 

and that's what we're trying to do here – we probably got to 

consider those things. 

 

And last but not least, I was just inside that little Castle 

Concrete lot, which is not little, it's 39 acres. Property taxes 

on that currently, according to the parcel viewer is $673. If 

you take a home, $500,000-, $600,000-, $700,000-homes, 

that would be built there, you're looking at $2,000 to $4,000 

plus. I'm not an expert in that, but I just know homes and the 

taxes can be raised on that and go to the schools, goes to the 

roads, spread out the tax burdens throughout the County, and 

be a real blessing to the whole community.  

 

So anyway, that's what I have to say. Thank you so much for 

your service and all that you're doing. And I know this is a 

hard job. It takes a long time to find applicants to fill it and 

be part of it, but on behalf of us who are watching you serve, 

thank you very much. We’re grateful to you. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thanks, Wade. Nathan, you're next.  

Nathan Cuoio: Thank you. I’m last [inaudible 01:50:37].  

Chair Ulrich: You’re last? Okay. Before Monte gets up here, and not 

sending anybody out, but I just want to remind those who are 

coming up, make sure you address the Council and not the 

audience or the applicant. Next one then will be Monte Gray. 

You got 24 minutes, Monte.  

Monte Gray: How many minutes do I have? 

Chair Ulrich: Twenty-four.  

Monte Gray: Twenty-four. 

Chair Ulrich: If you need it all. 
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Monte Gray: All right, I'll only need 23 and a half. Monte Gray, Assistant 

General Counsel for the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes. Thank 

you for being here today. Yes, we do have –    

Council Member Selleneit: Address, please.  

Monte Gray: Oh, and my address is , Fort Hall, Idaho 

83203.  

Council Member Selleneit: Thank you.  

Monte Gray: And just want to say I appreciate everybody staying awake 

this time of night, and holding in there, and keeping your 

attention so well. Really do appreciate the service you guys 

do for us. I'm mostly going to read heavily from a letter that I 

prepared. You’re welcome to have a copy if you choose to, 

but I understand that's your discretion to choose to.  

 

The Shoshone Bannock Tribes, as a federally-recognized 

tribe and the largest landowner near the proposed project, 

submits this objection regarding CUP 242: proposed mining 

operation filed by John Wilkes. This objection highlights 

significant deficiencies in the application: lack of compliance 

with Bannock County zoning ordinances, including Bannock 

County Municipal Code 17.56.350, and procedural 

shortcomings under Idaho Code Section 67-6512. Procedural 

issues combined with substantial adverse impacts on traffic, 

safety, environmental quality, and community welfare 

underscore why this application is incompatible with 

Bannock County's land use policies.  

 

First is an efficient public notice and access to application 

material. Tribes received notification on October 22nd, 2024, 

only seven days before the submission deadline, and critical 

documents were initially missing. Key references to attached 

report left the public without essential information, limiting 

the opportunity for informed response. Only a five-page 

cover portion of the application was online available to the 

public until October 30th of 2024. After the written 

submission deadline of October 29th, 2024 passed.  

 

Second, procedural burden requirement for public records 

request. When the tribes brought up the lack of complete 

application to the attention of the planning and zoning 

services, we were informed we could submit a formal request 

for public information to get the information. Requiring the 

public to submit a formal request for complete application 
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documents, subject to a public hearing, placed an undue 

burden on the community, it's restricted public access within 

a short timeline, violated principles of procedural due 

process, legal precedent, underscores the public's right to 

straightforward access in zoning matters.  

 

Three, inconsistency with Bannock County Ordinances 

Section 530.6 Standards. The proposed mining operation 

does not meet Bannock County Standards under Ordinance 

Section 530.6, which require that conditional uses avoid 

adverse impacts on surrounding properties, prevent travel 

disruptions, and protect public health. Adverse impacts on 

the surrounding properties: they increase noise, dust, and 

traffic. And truck traffic will severely impact nearby 

residential and agricultural properties. Ordinance 530.6 A 

stipulates that, “Conditional uses must not exceed the impact 

level of permitted uses. But the anticipated maximum, and 

this is the anticipated maximum, of 400 daily truck trips, 

generate disturbances far beyond typical residential traffic 

levels.  

 

The traffic and safety disruptions. The CUP 24-2 application 

noted in Exhibit E indicates that all gravel pit traffic will be 

directed onto Siphon Road. This results in significant 

implications for road safety, road wear, and community 

disruption. The current ADT capacity and impact. Rio Vista 

Road and Siphon Road currently handle average daily traffic 

ADT volumes of approximately 400 to 500 vehicles 

respectively. With 100 to 150 additional one-way trips under 

normal operations and up to 400 trips on peak days, the 

expected mining traffic could double current ADT 

particularly on lighter days. According to Bannock County 

ADT Standards, this traffic increase directly challenges the 

design capacity with peak operations bringing Siphon Road 

close to its maximum ADT threshold, with heavy vehicles 

accounting for substantial percentage of the total traffic.  

 

Discrepancies in the traffic impact and capacity. In their 

exhibit, in the applicant's Exhibit E of the application, they 

ambiguously describe the road infrastructure as “nearly 

adequate.” That's important. It did not say it was adequate. In 

their report it said, “nearly adequate for projected traffic.” 

That's on page four of Exhibit E of their packet that is dated 

November 6th of 2024. The CUP's peak operation with 200 

fully-loaded trucks, arriving at 200, departing empty each 

day results in 400 daily trips, a significant strain on Siphon 
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Road potentially maximizing the ADT limit. This increase 

disproportionately consists of heavy semi trucks presenting 

heightened risks and intensifying road wear. This is not only 

an 80% increase in traffic, but it replaced normal traffic with 

constant large semi trucks. Our traffic and semi traffic are 

nothing close to the same.  

 

Safety and environmental risks of increased semi traffic: size 

and noise impact. Fully-loaded gravel trucks weigh up to 

80,000 pounds, far exceeding the weight of a typical 

passenger vehicle, which averages 2,500 pounds to 5,500 

pounds. This increase accelerates road wear, poses safety 

risks, and disrupts community peace, especially with noise 

levels reaching 85 to 90 decibels, well above residential noise 

levels.  

 

Road safety hazards: the influx of heavy traffic especially on 

Siphon Road challenges the safety of regular passenger 

vehicles and increases accident risks due to larger stopping 

distances and limited maneuverability of the semi trucks.  

 

Public health and environmentalists: the mining operation 

introduces dust. It mentions potential road pollution 

impacting the air quality and creating health risks for nearby 

residents and wildlife. Ordinance 530.6-C mandates the CUP 

operations avoid materially injurious effects, yet the 

increased dust and noise contradict this requirement.  

 

Four, incompatibility with a comprehensive plan and lack of 

discretion by this council to grant a conditional use permit. 

The proposed mining operation outlined in CUP 24-2 directly 

conflicts with Bannock County's Comprehensive Plan, which 

designates this area for residential suburban development. 

This future land use designation emphasizes residential 

growth and low-impact community [inaudible 01:58:54], 

prioritizing quality of life, infrastructure suited for residential 

needs, and environmental protection. The proposed mining 

operation with this high volume of industrial truck traffic, 

noise, and environmental impacts is fundamentally 

incompatible with residential-suburban [inaudible 01:59:10].  

 

Comprehensive plan and future use designations: the 

Bannock County Comprehensive Plan outlines clear goals for 

areas designated as residential-suburban, promoting the uses 

that support substantial residential growth and community 

well-being. These goals exclude high impact industrial 
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activities such as mining, which will degrade the quality of 

life for residents and place unsustainable burdens on 

infrastructure designed for lower impact use.  

 

Under these Standards, the Planning Development Council 

has no discretion to grant a conditional use permit for a use 

that is fundamentally at odds with residential-suburban 

designation. Bannock County Municipal Code 17.56.350 

addresses the no discretion to approve conflicting conditional 

uses. It reinforced portions of this lack of discretion by 

stating, “a conditional use may be granted to an applicant if 

the proposed use is otherwise prohibited by the terms of the 

ordinance, but may be allowed with conditions under specific 

provisions of the ordinance, and when it is not in conflict 

with the comprehensive plan.”  

 

This language is unequivocal. The conditional use permit will 

not be approved if it conflicts with the comprehensive plan's 

vision for future land use. The Planning and Development 

Council is bound by this provision and cannot authorize a use 

that contradicts the residential suburban designation. The 

Ordinance makes it clear that any conditional use must align 

with the comprehensive plan, meaning that the CUP 24-2 

cannot lawfully be granted given its industrial nature and 

substantial adverse impacts it would impose on a 

residentially designated area.  

 

Bannock County indicates that one of the goals is to 

cooperate with the Shoshone-Bannock tribes, with the Fort 

Haul Reservation. The tribes object to the construction of the 

gravel pit on the border of its land. Tribes have several 

member home sites just across the road from the location and 

granted three more last year for development. The tribes 

thought it was a good location since the future use 

designation by Bannock County was residential suburban.  

 

The requirement for compliance with comprehensive plan 

rules. Bannock County codes further requires that applicants 

bear the burden of proof to demonstrate that the proposed use 

does not conflict with the spirit or purpose of the 

comprehensive plan. Given the intensity of the proposed 

mining operations, including significant semi truck traffic, 

noise pollution, and environmental concerns, the applicant 

has not met and indeed cannot meet this burden. Approval of 

CP 24-2 would not only disregard the residential suburban 

future use designation, but would also contravene the 
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comprehensive plans or goals of maintaining safe, 

sustainable, and community-oriented development. 

 

Comprehensive plan policies are not followed. One, the 

following population growth and land use goals and policies 

are not furthered: Policy 1.1. Future land use to define 

growth paths. Future land use plan will guide future growth 

and development by defining appropriate land uses, densities, 

and characters in different locations, including cities and 

towns, area of the city impact, ACI areas, farm and ranch, 

land, hill size, and public land.  

 

Policy 2.1. Land use patterns in rural areas to be consistent 

with future land use plan. New development in rural areas 

must be consistent with the future land use plan which 

establishes areas for agriculture and low-density residential 

development outside of cities and towns near the ACIs. 

 

Policy 2.3. Regional cooperation. Cooperate regionally with 

cities and towns, businesses, and citizens to continue 

planning for orderly growth in the county and region.  

 

Policy 8.5. Forestry and mining with minimal impacts. Allow 

forestry mining in rural areas so long as these activities occur 

with minimal impacts to water bodies, sensitive natural areas, 

and to the adjacent properties without an adverse impact on 

surrounding areas.  

 

The following economic goals and policies are not furthered: 

Policy 1.1 Commercial and industrial uses in appropriate 

locations. The future land use plan identifies appropriate 

locations for commercial industrial uses generally within the 

cities and towns, ACIs, and consistent with the pre-existing 

non-residential zoning districts. 

 

In conclusion, the language of Bannock County Municipal 

Code 17.56.350 eliminates any discretion for the Planning 

and Development Council to grant a conditional use permit 

for a mining operation in a residential suburban area. To 

preserve the integrity of the comprehensive plan, the 

County's commitment to future residential growth, CUP 24-2 

must be denied.  

 

The Shoshone-Bannock tribes respectfully request that the 

Planning and Development Council reject the application in 

accordance with the limitations set by the comprehensive 
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plan and Bannock County's own ordinance. Given the 

potential harm to quiet enjoyment of the neighboring 

housing, the environment, culture, heritage, and broader 

community, we urge Planning and Development Council to 

exercise prudence and discretion in evaluating the proposed 

hot asphalt plant as part of the conditional use permit 

application. It is our strong belief the applicant has not 

adequately met their burden of proof in demonstrating that 

the proposed gravel pit aligns with the comprehensive plan 

and standards set forth in the Bannock County Ordinance 

Section 17.56.350. 

 

Just to wrap up, in sum, we often say out at the tribes that we 

have no other place to go. In other words, if this area is 

damaged, if this area is destroyed, if this area is contaminated 

or polluted, unlike a lot of other people, the tribes cannot just 

pick up and move their reservation somewhere else. And so 

these things have particular impact to us and we hope that 

you’ll just keep that in mind.  

 

Just an outside observation that I see is that the parties 

mentioned the distance of other gravel pits, and there's other 

gravel pits in the area. It would appear to me that this is 

largely a question of trying to get a competitive advantage 

over the other gravel pits by building your gravel pit closer to 

where the gravel's going to go. And while I very much 

respect all the hard workers that do this type of work for our 

community, it really comes down to whether or not you favor 

this company to get the competitive advantage of the gravel 

pit over the other companies that have gravel pits further 

away, because all of them also have their own employees and 

families that are all affected by that as well. And that's all I 

have to say. Thank you for your time. 

 

With that said, I would like to surrender the remaining 

amount of my time, if I could, to Dennis Hansen, who was 

kind and gracious when he thought I wouldn't have any time 

to speak and gave me his time.  

Council Member Selleneit: Thanks Mark.  

Chair Ulrich: Can you make sure, because we’re recording, we have a copy 

of that letter? Thank you.  

Dennis Halder:  Dennis Halder, . My wife and I, and 

our family, we have the property 600-feet adjacent to the 

planned gravel pit, maybe I shouldn't say “planned.” The 
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gravel pit there. We have enjoyed that piece of property. The 

potato fields and wheat fields, when we first bought the 

property, our realtor made a comment about how windy it 

was out here and I said, “Yeah.” Just like South Dakota.  

 

But anyway, Wes Johnson at one time made a comment to us 

that that was our playground and I was – my daughter rode 

horses out there all the time. We helped him maintain the 

ditch. Gail’s – and I probably need to go on to some other 

things that – I never know where these [inaudible 02:07:41] 

when I talk, but one of the things I need to say is I have – the 

majority of my cousins have become wealthy because of 

gravel pits.  

 

I was on the Perry City Planning Commission. I helped bring 

Geneva Gravel to Perry City and developed part of their plan. 

And when I look at, and I also taught construction, I have a 

degree in construction, one credit short of a construction 

management program. And my big hobby for a long time was 

development. And I made a comment over and over again 

with the first presentation or the first application that I 

would've never accepted that from my students, what was 

proposed.  

 

And actually the night that we got our first letter originally, I 

called John Wilkes – and I did not receive an answer back 

from him – because I wanted to know at that time, I thought, 

well, it's okay if there's a gravel pit there if they follow stand 

– regular regulations. And in Utah, they're quite restricted 

because if you don’t – and again, the one in Brigham City, 

which I'm very familiar with first of all, that's a different type 

of material. It is not what we have out here at all. The Geneva 

Plant has more of the other type of rock.  

 

But anyway, I need to get into some of this other stuff. I've 

been involved in development most of my life. One of the 

things that I was trained in is conditional use permits are 

exceptional use, and that's generally the definition of them. 

But I want to say that it says, “exceptional use.” There is 

nothing exceptional about that particular piece of property to 

become a gravel pit – or why – or there’s reasons that it 

should be. One of the things that I would like to state is – and 

a lot of it's really been covered quite well by Mr. Johnson, 

who's run gravel pits, Mr. Egan, Farnsworth, Packer, all 

professionals in this and given you basically – and telling us 

that it doesn't meet any of the standards and regulations and 
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the five main conditions, it’s not meeting any of those. 

 

I look at – we are in an area that is really quite unique. At one 

time we had eight superfund sites and the EPA had their big 

meetings here in Pocatello because we do such a lousy job of 

maintaining and mining. And I don't know if [inaudible 

02:10:40] we know, but a lot of the mining regulations have 

changed substantially over the last 30 years because it was 

just kind of a wild card. 

 

I'm from Minnesota and I had a neighbor guy, a trucker that 

came out here and made his fortune trucking ore because 

they didn't have to follow any of the regulations at that time 

of – when I say “regulations,” of course they follow the 

speed limit, but it's just wild country. And one of the things I 

want to suggest is, if you could probably zoom into that 

picture, I'm guessing that picture is two years old, looking at 

the wheat fields. But if you notice the trees along the very 

south border that is at the very bottom, they are green there. 

Right now, if you drive past that now, they're all dead. Why? 

From what I understand it's been a change in who's been 

managing the property.  

 

And that's one of the things that we see. That pit when it was 

originally given that location, I talked to the fellow that 

owned and was owning that at that time, and he was really 

disappointed with a lot of the conditions that were put on 

there. And we haven't even heard of what the conditional use 

was of any of that property to the south. And if you look, you 

can see where only half of that frontage is developed.  

 

And he was quite upset because he wanted to build on the 

whole thing and at that time we know that spot planning and 

peninsula planning was a bad idea and that's what we're 

creating here, which will it stop? Would it stop at this piece 

of property? Would it go into Simplot’s property? Would it 

go into the LDS Church's property? And that is just an 

example of peninsula development.  

 

And you look at all of the other conditions that are set forth 

and what isn't being met, what they're meeting basically is 

regulations that they have to meet. There's nothing special 

about berm. What is special is they're supposed to be 

maintained. And all you got to do is look down – I’ve been 

driving down the highway freeway and seeing from Fort 

Hall, the dust coming off of the cement plant and their 
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property when there's a wind event.  

 

Well, so the neighbor, who I visited with down there, who 

was in the city, made the comment, “We call on that all the 

time and nothing happens.” Well, you have a wind event, you 

have this front come in, the wind blows tremendous amounts, 

literally tons of particulate into the air and it travels and that 

gets blown off and dissipates. Water does not handle that. I 

mean, these guys are experts. They know that there are other 

methods that need to be used and they haven't even suggested 

using any of those basically because they do cost a 

substantial amount of money.  

 

I've also seen wind events. I took a picture and I thought I 

wasn't going to need it so I deleted it probably three months 

ago. I was on Government Road four and a half miles away, 

and, again, saw the dust come out of the pit that is on the 

corner of Chubbuck and Rio Vista. And that was just the dust 

that came out of that pit. I wasn't paying attention. And those 

are just substantial, small, small individual wind events. I 

mean, we got signage all over on the freeway that – we had 

that accident on the freeway with the fog where that person 

got killed last year because of Simplot’s fog. This area is not 

an industrial area, and again, that's what industrial mining is. 

And to meet their DOT, which they know, to meet the DOT 

regulations, it becomes instantly an industrial use area, and 

this is not a place to be putting something like that.  

 

And again, going back to the peninsula development, like I 

said – I'm jumping around here but – one other thing about 

the wind; farming is – I've worked on farms most of my life. 

Farming, soil movement is not the same as what happens at a 

gravel pit. We live right next to it. Our big thing is when we 

moved there, north, it was a wheat field 27 years ago. And I 

told my wife, I said, “Get the windows closed, it looks like 

they're going to cut wheat.” And she goes, “Huh? Why?” 

And I said, “We're going to be inundated and our yard is 

going to be covered with wheat.”  

 

That's what we did for living next to it and that's something 

that I expected. We closed our windows and that was that. 

But as far as other wind days, we don't get the dust from 

there. Now, we do get dust that comes up from Arbon Valley 

that will blow up here and we'll get some sand storms. 

Council Member Selleneit: Thank you, sir. That’s your time. 
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Dennis Halder: Okay. 

Chair Ulrich: Thank you. Next we'll have Jim Sieverson. After Jim, we will 

have Jerry Hunt. Jim, you've got 30 minutes. 

Jim Sieverson: Thank you. 

Chair Ulrich: If you need it. 

Jim Sieverson: I won't need that much, so. Let me get this set correctly. My 

name is Jim Sieverson. I live at 1 . My home 

is about a quarter mile downwind of the proposed gravel pit. 

I've lived in that area for about 33 years. Thank you very 

much for giving me the opportunity to talk to you about CUP 

24-2 here tonight.  

 

I'm a retired environmental engineering manager. I've worked 

in the mining industry for more than 50 years doing 

environmental improvements to open pit mines, underground 

mines, smelters etc. Processing minerals and mining 

materials: phosphorus, copper, lead, zinc, cadmium, gold, 

silver, and even arsenic. I earned a Master's Degree in Air 

Pollution Engineering at Pennsylvania State University 

Center for Environment Studies and my career started in 

1968, which was two years before EPA even became a 

federal agency.  

 

The reason I'm giving you this is, my talk is more technical 

and more engineering-oriented, so I wanted to make sure that 

you understand my qualifications for what I'm about to 

discuss with you. Initially, I worked in my home state of 

Montana, for county and state agencies, inspecting sources of 

air pollution, such as gravel pits; and assisting them in 

working and controlling their emissions and complying with 

local, state, and federal requirements.  

 

In 1972, after graduate school, I started working in the 

mining industry to control and reduce their emissions. I 

primarily worked in the western states along the Rocky 

Mountains, but I also worked in Canada and Mexico. In 

1976, I became an industrial hygienist while still working on 

air pollution issues. Most people are not familiar – 

Chair Ulrich: Jim, can we hold you for just a second? 

Jim Sieverson: Yes. 

Chair Ulrich: It sounds like we might be having technical problems.  
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Hal Jensen: Jim, move that mic closer, please. 

Jim Sieverson: To me? 

Hal Jensen: Yes. 

Jim Sieverson: Okay. Does that work? Testing. 

Tristan Bourquin: Yeah. Keep talking for a minute – 

Hal Jensen: The feed was cut to the other room. 

Chair Ulrich: It was? 

Hal Jensen: Yes. 

Chair Ulrich: Oh, okay.  

Jim Sieverson: I don't think I touched anything. As I was saying, I became 

an industrial hygienist in 1976. People are not familiar with 

that term, I assume you aren’t either, but a industrial 

hygienist simply put, works to protect employee health. I 

later became a certified industrial hygienist; it’s a process 

similar to becoming a professional engineer.  

 

As an industrial hygienist, I developed and managed medical 

monitoring programs and health protection programs for 

employees and mines, and smelters operated by my 

employer. I also supervised the nurses and doctors that 

provided healthcare to those employees. I've served as an 

expert witness in court for air pollution control and health 

protection of workers. 

 

Given my career experience, my comments tonight will 

address the requirements of Section 538.6 Paragraph C of the 

Zoning Ordinance which addresses the proposed use would 

not damage the public health, safety, or general welfare 

within its vicinity or be materially injurious to properties or 

improvements in that vicinity. 

 

Specifically, I wanted to talk to you about my comments 

about air pollution and groundwater contamination. Air 

pollution in gravel pits is fugitive dust. There is no doubt that 

the aggregate industry has a problem with fugitive dust 

emissions. Dust from digging, loading, crushing and 

transporting aggregates is inevitable. Fugitive dust becomes a 

bigger problem as wind speeds increase, particularly when 

wind speeds reach in excess of 20 miles an hour, which in the 

trade is often termed “a high wind event.”  
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In the 2024 CUP application, IMC has provided the Council 

with a health consultation performed in Brigham City, Utah, 

by the Utah Department of Health in cooperation with the 

federal agency which is the Agency for Toxic Substances and 

Seizure Registry, or commonly known by initials ATSDR. 

IMC believes this Brigham City health consultation showed 

that there's clear evidence that the proposed use would not 

damage the public safety or general welfare in the area. This 

is just not true. I would like to provide you with other 

information in that health consultation that IMC ignored, 

which I believe shows that the proposed gravel pit would 

damage the public health, safety and general welfare by 

nearby – excuse me, for nearby residents.  

 

First, I guess the Planning and Development Council needs to 

know that ATSDR studies are not done as pure research. 

ATSDR studies are typically a federal government response 

to a high level of outrage from local residents that are 

concerned about an environmental problem in their 

community. Brigham City, Utah residents were outraged 

about the fugitive of dust coming from three local sand and 

gravel pits. The largest of these three was the operation by 

Staker Parsons, an affiliated company with IMC.  

 

The local residents made several complaints at ‘97, ‘98, ‘99 

about air pollution coming from those three gravel 

operations. In response to these citizen complaints, Utah 

State initially responded by conducting a limited air sample 

in each of those years. Utah reported one sampling a day with 

fugitive dust, commonly called by initials TSP, “Total 

Suspended Particulate,” are above a benchmark a few 160 

milligrams per cubic meter in 1997. However, that initial 

sampling did not satisfy the local residents who continued to 

lodge complaints, culminating with 28 complaints in the 

summer of 2003. Their elected representatives then decided 

to take action.  

 

In September, 2003, the Brigham County Council petitioned 

the State to investigate the dust problem coming from these 

gravel pits. The Utah Department of Health responded to that 

city council petition starting in October 2003. Residents 

reported health concerns to the investigators including 

asthma, allergies, respiratory illness, and eye and nose 

irritation, all of which are consistent with exposure to 

fugitive dust.  
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As I stated earlier, ATSDR health consultations are not done 

unless local residents, and their elected representatives, and 

the city health agencies are dealing with a very real 

environmental concern. As a professional in this field, my 

opinion is that the UDOH ATSDR’s investigation and 

resulting health consultation was a result of Staker Parsons 

essentially being stone deaf, or excuse me, tone deaf about 

the effect of their fugitive emissions on their residential 

neighbors.  

 

As a side note, tone deaf seems to be true of the existing 

gravel pit here in Pocatello as well. The local IDQ Office has 

told me that they have had continuing complaints about the 

existing IMC pit located near Feldman Road at Highway 30 

now for 12 years.  

 

The Brigham City Health consultation included additional 

extensive air sampling conducted in 2004. That air sampling 

was performed by the State of Utah in the summer of 2004, 

and most of that sampling was around the Staker Parsons’ 

gravel pit because it was the largest operation. Air samples of 

airborne dust were collected at 28 days between May and 

September, 2004. Utah EEQ found that the fugitive dust 

emissions were mostly total suspended particulate. Few of 

the 28 days had fugitive dust levels above the EPA 

benchmark level of 250 milligrams per cubic meter. These 

results are found in table two of the health consultation. I've 

got that here and I will give you a copy.  

 

The health consultation states that the potential for high PSP 

remains due to the occasional strong winds in the Brigham 

City area. The consultation considered wind speeds of 20 

miles an hour or higher as being a high wind event. Pocatello 

is pretty well-known, I think, by all the people in the room 

here, as being a pretty windy city.  

 

So I kind of wondered how Pocatello wind gusts would 

compare to Brigham City wind gusts on those monitoring 

days back in 2004. I researched the National Weather Service 

data from the Pocatello Airport for the same days in 2004 and 

what the wind speeds were in Pocatello on those particular 

days. I prepared a two-page handout that shows table two that 

was referenced from the health consultation, and a table that I 

have prepared, showing a comparison of high wind events in 

Pocatello to high wind events in Brigham City for those 28 
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sampling days.  

 

In 2004, Brigham City had two high wind events out of 28 

days of sampling, which is 7% of the days sampled. If that 

2004 air sampling had been done in Pocatello, there would've 

been 11 high wind days out of 28, which is 39% of the days 

sampled. I find that comparison of 7% high wind days versus 

39% high wind days in Pocatello to be astounding. Now, 

there are over five times more high wind days in Pocatello 

than occurred in Brigham City. I believe this data shows how 

IMC’s fugitive dust emissions would probably present a 

much greater problem in Pocatello than the fugitive dust in 

Brigham City.  

 

Given IMC’s past history of some 12 years of complaints 

from residents to our local IDEQ Office about their fugitive 

dust emissions, coupled with a higher incidence as high wind 

events in Pocatello, leads me to believe that IMC’s proposed 

gravel pit will damage public health and be materially 

injurious to downwind properties, residents, pets, and 

livestock. 

 

ATSDR pays particular attention to what are called 

“exposure pathways,” primarily because air sampling cannot 

be done everywhere in a neighborhood and cannot be done 

every day. A complete exposure pathway by ATSDR means 

that there's a contaminant source, in this case a gravel pit, 

transported that contaminant by wind; a point of exposure, 

contact with the airborne dust; a route of human exposure, 

which is breathing; and finally, an exposed population, which 

is downwind residents.  

 

The ATSDR found one completed pathway in Brigham City. 

That pathway was continuing dust emissions released by the 

sand and gravel pits that's being inhaled by Brigham City 

residents. ATSDR concluded that this dust simulation 

pathway existed in the past and will continue into the future 

because the site is residential; and since the gravel operations 

will continue operating for the foreseeable future – at least at 

that time. Dust inhalation and I think the leak – I guess the 

big reveal here is that ATSDR found that dust inhalation is a 

current and future exposure pathway of concern. That is 

directly out of their report.  

 

Let me go on to that and now talk about groundwater 

concerns. Another environmental concern is the possible 
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contamination of groundwater. Council members here tonight 

need to know that almost everybody in this area gets their 

drinking water from individual wells or 

community/subdivision wells so residents are very concerned 

about the possibility of contamination of our groundwater. At 

the Council's August 2023 public hearing on the 2023 CUP 

application, council members became very concerned about 

groundwater contamination, but IMCs application provided 

little information about the possible groundwater impacts of 

their proposed gravel pit.  

 

IMC has attempted to address groundwater contamination 

concerns in their current August 26, 2024 application, which 

now includes a new Exhibit G entitled “Evaluation of 

Impacts on to Groundwater Quality,” a technical 

memorandum that was prepared by Rocky Mountain 

Environmental Associates and dated June 3, 2024.  

 

RMEA was tasked to determine whether groundwater users 

with wells in the near vicinity of the proposed gravel pit 

would be significantly impacted by excavation of the pit. 

RMEA specifically wanted to determine if there was a 

probable hydraulic barrier between the bottom of the pit and 

lower water bearing zones. RMEA used an online database of 

well to river reports, a groundwater flow model, and an 

online soil survey to prepare their technical memorandum. In 

other words, RMEA did a paper study.  

 

Now, you know, the RMEA did not do any actual field work. 

There was no site visits, no test wells, no testing – nothing 

but computer data. RMEA reviewed well drill logs for 22 

wells within approximately one-quarter mile of those gravel 

pits. The information on subsequent conditions – it's 

important to note that RMEA acknowledges that well drillers 

are not trained hydrologists and their drilling logs describing 

subsequent conditions that, “may or may not,” that's a quote, 

“actively describe those conditions.”   

 

RMEA then concludes that it appears unlikely that these 

wells would be significantly affected by proposed gravel pit 

excavation, but also state's limitation that, quote, 

“conclusions of this report are NOT,” my emphasis, 

“scientific certainties, but probabilities.” I think it is 

important for the council members to understand that paper 

studies can be wrong or misleading when compared to the 

real world.  
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Here's my specific example. I used to live on Lacey and I 

now live on, just the next street over. Anyway, the Lacey 

Vista Acres Water Corporation provided drinking water to 60 

homes in that subdivision from three wells originally. I was 

the president of Lacey Vista Acres Water Corporation for 

almost 15 years. I had to make the decision to ban one of 

those three drinking wells circa 1994 because of 

contamination with Ethylene Dibromide, known by the 

initials “EDB.” That was an organic chemical used in the 

1970s to treat soil for nematodes that were harmful to 

potatoes.  

 

The drinking water well is around one-quarter mile from the 

proposed gravel pit. The abandoned Lacey well is located on 

the south side of Lacey Street immediately north of four 

other wells that were evaluated by RMEA. The abandoned 

well was not evaluated. Figure 2 in RMEA’s report entitled, 

“Well location within a half mile of the project location,” and 

shows these four wells designated number one, number four, 

number five, and number six, located along the right side of 

that aerial photo.  

 

So my point is, the real world in this case shows that surface 

contamination, in this case EDB, an agricultural [inaudible 

02:31:39] that was applied to the top soil, did in fact migrate 

from the top soil down to a lower zone that was being used 

for drinking water. This real world disaster for Lacey 

residents makes a possibility that a “hydraulic barrier,” quote, 

unquote, exists that would prevent groundwater 

contamination of lower drink water levels to be very, very 

questionable.  

 

RMEA also states on page four of their report that RMEA 

has been in –   this is a quote, “RMEA has been informed that 

IMC is preparing a plan of operation and a reclamation plan 

for the proposed aggregate mining operations. These plans 

will contain best management practices that will include 

requirements for protection against spills, releases, and 

flushing of sediments that could reach shallow groundwater. 

RMEA has not reviewed the plan of operations, the 

reclamation plan or the proposed BMPs and therefore 

CANNOT PROVIDE AN OPINION,” my emphasis, “as to 

the efficacy of the BMPs protecting groundwater in this 

area.”  
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Given that at least one well in the area has been contaminated 

by surface contamination and that IMC did not provide 

RMEA with any specific information about their best 

management practices, plan of operation, or reclamation 

plan, I believe the Council should find that this study does 

not satisfy the groundwater concerns of nearby residents as 

well as the members of the Planning and Development 

Council. Thank you for your time.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Jim. Next would be Jerry Hunt. After Jerry, we 

will have Trinette Davis. You have 15 minutes, Jerry.  

Jerry Hunt:  

 And I wish to sincerely thank each of you volunteers 

that serve us. And we understand that the work you do, 

decisions you make, can truly impact people, neighbors, your 

neighbors, and our friends in this county. Thank you very 

much for your service.  

 

Before us again is an application for Staker Parson IMC, a 

company of CRH headquartered in Dublin, Ireland that 

wishes to [inaudible 02:34:07] industry [inaudible 02:34:08] 

residential area here in Bannock County, an area that has a 

finite amount of land for residential development since it’s 

land-locked by the tribe. However, this is not the case with 

gravel. As you can see in the map provided by the CUP 

application, page 24 of 239, it shows the gravel is plentiful in 

the area indicated with yellow on the map submitted. It is 

common knowledge that there's gravel between here and 

Downey and here and Boise. You need to look no further 

than the old [inaudible 02:34:45] property to find quality 

gravel on industrial use land sitting right next to an interstate 

on ramp.  

 

In addressing the traffic concerns, the CUP application would 

provide a traffic impact study, Exhibit E, as part of the 

application. However, the submitted study is not on-point 

with traffic concerns. Instead, the study is engineering 

[assessed 02:35:11] of the road’s ability to support the weight 

of heavy truck traffic. No mention of the fact was there – the 

intersection of Siphon and Rio Vista, a 50-ton gravel truck 

needs four lanes to make the turn, causing chaos and 

disturbance to vehicles at the intersection, requiring to either 

back up or for them to go around. This we learned all too 

well after 30 gravel trucks per hour went down this proposed 

lane a couple weeks before Christmas, highlighting safety 

concerns, noise pollution, and definite increase to traffic load, 
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not to mention damage to the edges of the road.  

 

Just in the past year, living out there, there was already a 

noticeable increase in the number of bikers, runners, walkers, 

horses and kids where you put school buses out on these 

roads, roads without shoulder or bike lane. Now, by adding a 

hundred trips per day of gravel trucks to this mix, again, 

when we ask, what could go wrong? Well, let me tell you 

what could go wrong. There were a few things that happened 

in the last three or four months out in our area. First, in the 

fall we had a gravel truck run off the road on Tyhee Road, off 

into the irrigation canal, which shut down the irrigation canal 

for two farmers and residential areas for the remainder of the 

year. That included me.  

 

Second, we got a call from Mike Powell, who is president of 

Westfield Estate, came to the corner of Rio Vista and Shelby 

only to find a car that was sitting under a side dump gravel 

trailer. Thank goodness everyone was okay. And third, a car 

pulled out onto Rio Vista from Venus Street and was hit by a 

gravel truck – who turned over his trailer fully-loaded with 

gravel, trying to avoid the car – although the driver of the car 

was okay, as was the truck driver. The car driver was at fault, 

yes, but just another example of what can happen when 

you’re starting to mix gravel trucks in residential area. A 

truck, a gravel truck takes just two and a half times longer to 

stop than your car or my car.  

 

As a side note, this incident did occur at a bus stop, but 

thankfully the bus and the kids had already come and gone or 

this accident could have been worse. It should be also noted 

that Kelly Dial, a transportation supervisor of the Pocatello 

District 25 Transportation Department, expressed their safety 

concerns of having six buses making routes in this area twice 

a day, as she put it, “with the most valuable cargo [inaudible 

02:38:08] there with more [inaudible 02:38:08] roads 

opening up to development trucks is a problem.”  

 

Even our mailman has expressed concern over those two-

weeks period when the gravel trucks were back and forth, 

that she was going to be hit from behind since she spends a 

lot of time out in the street delivering her route. The simple 

fact that this will be disruptive to the traffic and safety issues 

are both reasons for this application to be inconsistent with 

the Bannock Planning Ordinance 530.6 Part B that states, 

“The proposed use would not cause undue disruption of 
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traffic or an extraordinary increase in the volume of traffic in 

the vicinity of the proposed use.” And Part C, “The proposed 

use would not damage the public health, safety, and general 

welfare within the vicinity.”  

 

How do you think protecting and enhancing residential life, 

as is stated in the comprehensive plan, applies to keeping us 

safe when we're introducing a mining operation that comes 

with safety concerns, along with its noise pollution, dust 

pollution and smell of the asphalt plant to the residential 

area? This is a bad idea and needs to go [inaudible 02:39:25].  

 

It should also be noted that this proposal has common 

boundaries with not only residential zoned land and that 

homeowners, some – Brett Colman, Bernice Jackson, 

[inaudible 02:39:42], and others, some that have been there 

for more than 50 years in this area. They worked their lives. 

They went every day to school, and to work, have raised their 

kids, and now thinking that they're going to have right next 

door a gravel pit. It states in the County Regulations 374 use 

conditional permit, “Permitted industrial use as long as the 

land in question does not share common boundary with 

residential zoned land.” Again, this itself should kill the 

application.  

 

 

Also listed in the application, in the application's report on 

page 52 of 239, there is a case study that says – that makes 

the point that gravel pits do not devalue a home or property. I 

strongly disagree with the study. This is some question we 

have to ask whether the gravel pit would have an influence 

on property value by asking two questions. One, if we have 

two homes priced the same price, that were identical homes 

in every way –  same floor plan, same builder with very 

similar properties in the landscaping and size – and one sat 

next to a gravel pit and the other up on Satterfield Drive, 

which one would you buy?  

 

The second question to be asked is, how much of a discount 

provided would influence you to buy this home down in the 

gravel pit if needed? Would it be 30%, 40%, maybe even 

50%? These are real people, good people, our neighbors, 

[inaudible 02:41:22]. And some are now retired and on fixed 

income, and in the event that they will someday need to sell 

their homes and use the proceeds as a preliminary resource of 

funding to pay for care, it would be a sad day that happens if 
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their homes or their property is no longer worth what they 

thought it was when they were financially [inaudible 

02:41:48].  

 

Again, this area, these are real people, friends, neighbors 

we’re talking about, people you are tasked to protect and 

enhance residents’ quality of life as stated in the 

comprehensive plan. In Section 530.6, this states, letter A, 

Part A, “The proposed use would adversely impact the 

surrounding properties.” I’m here to say that [inaudible 

02:42:16] gravel hot pit application [inaudible 02:42:20]. 

Let’s keep industry with industry. Let's keep residential areas 

separate. Again, I want to thank each of you for your time.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Jerry.  

Council Member Selleneit: Thanks. 

Trinette Davis: Thank you for allowing me to speak to you tonight on the 

reasons that I believe you should deny this [CRP 02:42:54] 

for a gravel pit. My name is Trinette Davis. I live at 15501 

West Tyhee Road. I have lived there for 45 years with my 

husband. He's lived there his entire life, 68 years. We live in 

our family farm that we've had for over a hundred years. 

We've just now welcomed the sixth generation to our family 

farm. We're now the old people in Tyhee. We love the flats. 

We care about it and we want to see it maintained as the 

haven it has always been for escape, for rural life.  

 

The comprehensive plan directs our area to grow as rural 

residential because that was the direction it was taking 

naturally. 321 designation of rural residential is to maintain a 

semi-rural setting. People who buy and build and live in 

rural-residential certainly enjoy the quiet country life. They 

do not expect to deal with noise, large equipment, beeping, 

backup noises, blowing dust, hundreds of large daily dumps 

with pumps running down across our homes.  

 

We, my neighbors and I, are seeing entire [inaudible 

02:44:06] properties in Tyhee, trusting that the County will 

follow their plan. People's property in our area represents for 

some people a hundred percent of their wealth, but the 

majority of people probably half of their wealth. A gravel pit 

bordering our property, threatens our investment. It's hard to 

say how much an impact the value of our property would be 

reduced, but most people would probably buy something not 

next to a gravel pit.  
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It's been written that the pit will not change the area. But 

when I look out my back window right now from our farm, 

this is what that property looks like. See, nice swans, geese. 

We have ducks. We have fox, coyotes, deer, occasional 

moose wanders through. It's nice. It's quiet. It's breezy. It can 

be real windy, but it's nice. Our peaceful farm looks like this. 

This is our farm.  

 

But if you allow this gravel pit to come in, this is what my 

view is going to look like. This is the property owned and 

managed by the claim– the petitioners now. It is deplorable. 

Trucks start lining up at 6:00 AM at these different gravel 

pits to get gravel. They have pits that are full of old asphalt 

standing in water. They say that they will have buffers, that 

they'll have a berm.  

 

Bannock County Ordinance 200 talks about buffers, natural 

buffers which create desirable views and reduce impacts of 

one type of land use on another. 4362: “Hedge-like buffering, 

six feet in three years… close enough to form a branch-to-

branch site obstructing buffer within five years. All such 

trees and shrubs shall be watered and maintained and shall be 

replaced with living plant material of similar size and type if 

they die.” I have provided photos today of how this company 

manages and follows these regulations in the past. You can 

see these are not maintained and past behavior is the best 

predictor of future behavior.  

 

And who monitors or enforces these rules? Over the years, 

there's been a number of complaints about these sites and it 

seems that there’s little done. We like to walk and ride our 

bikes on the road. There's kids waiting for school buses, as 

my neighbors have said. Our farm has a blind driveway at the 

bottom of our hill leading from the field to the road, pulling 

out large, slow-moving equipment would pose significant 

hazards here.  

 

And all sections are not wide enough for trucks to make 

turns. My neighbors always park on the side of the road. 

Love my neighbors, they're great, but they park on the side of 

the road. I can't imagine these large trucks coming between 

these two parked cars at the top of my hill and especially 

when my neighbors’ kids are out there to catch the bus.  

 

Everybody out there's on a well. Our house is really old, like 
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I told you, so we have a shallow well. It's not very deep. If 

they use a lot of water, I have to drill another well. It could 

lower the water table. Some of the other concerns I have is if 

they contaminate my ground water, I'll have to drill a new 

well. Also, how would I know my water's contaminated? I 

have to test it all the time.  

 

Two years ago we contacted Planning Development because 

some – we have two children that wanted to build a house on 

our 80 acres. We were told that you can build a house on 

every 40 acres, and if you want to build more, you have to 

get a permit, and you have to change your zoning to rural 

residential, and that made sense to me. Now they said you 

can't do it because it would wreck the farm-ag designation, 

which is what our farm's under. We're not rural residential, 

but on ag.  

 

And I think that it’s obvious that if you can't put a house on 

more than – two houses on 80 acres. It kind of seems odd that 

you can take an entire farm, completely destroy it, turn it into 

a gravel mining operation for a multi-million dollar 

international corporation and still call it a farm, have it still 

be zoned agricultural.  

 

Our Zoning Ordinance 115 C says, “to provide for and 

protect agricultural lands and natural resource areas; 115.B to 

mitigate the effects of incompatible land use on adjacent 

uses; E, to provide protection against hazardous materials.” 

The pit would clearly cause noxious fumes, loud noises, and 

other hazards and nuisances which constitute environmental 

pollution. This company would bring all these 12 hours a 

day, six days a week to my now peaceful farm. With a DOT 

waiver, it could be a 24/7 operation.  

 

I don't think the CRP is appropriate in this instance. A gravel 

pit is not compatible with the surrounding land use. I believe 

the CRP exception for mining gravel in an agriculture area 

was made for farmers. Maybe we needed some gravel for a 

road or a shop. It didn't include refining. I do not believe it 

was for this corporation to destroy the entire farm, create an 

open pit mine next to people's homes, and then pay 

approximately $2,000 a year in taxes.  

 

This company originally asked for a zoning change of the 

property to light industrial. They wanted an asphalt pit and 

150 one-way trips a day to their pit. But I don't think 
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anybody just goes one-way to the gravel pit so it's at least 

300 trips a day. But they were forced to change to a CUP 

after it was noted that Bannock County Ordinance for Light 

Industry Number 374 does not, NOT allow for industrial use 

when a common border is shared with residentially zoned 

land.  

 

This land shows three residential borders. They said they 

only shared two residential orders, but they omitted the 

native people to the west. This type of industry should not be 

allowed to use a law for farmers like me and my husband to 

avoid having to obtain industry-zoned property, or buy an 

appropriately located property and correctly change the 

zoning and paying increased taxes. They want to act like this 

is the only gravel in the area. There's a lot of gravel out there. 

Anybody who lives in Tyhee – they compared gravel to gold. 

I can shovel a couple of shovels and I dig gravel. I don't get 

gold. Never got gold.  

 

This CUP should be denied because it was denied in three 

previous hearings. Refining and reducing the trucks to 50, 

saying they'll clean their mess, but they haven't in the past, 

shouldn't change this. They had said they did a pit in the past. 

They said that, though they would exclude the residential 

piece, eventually they'd like to do the whole piece. They want 

to crush gravel, eventually, refine and create an asphalt pit, 

maybe eventually. But what they're doing right now is just 

creating a slippery slope. They just want just a little bit. We 

just want to do a little gravel pit. But once they have that, 

they'll have more.  

 

And we've lived there for a hundred years. When we first 

started out there, there's only farms out there. Now, because 

we keep adding and adding, there's a gravel pit here, so we 

put one next to it, and we put one next to it. Nobody's safe 

from these kind of things with this kind of management. I've 

included too, an article from the Iowa State Journal, 10-24-

24, where this community denied the CUP for a similar 

Inkom pit.  

 

And lastly, I included a text sent out by this company, John 

Wilkes, to disrupt the previously scheduled hearing. They 

stated they wanted to crowd out the residents opposing this 

pit. This shows the bad faith and the dirty hands of this 

company. The text is a glaring example of how this company 

plans to silence and ignore complaints of opposition. This 
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gravel mess is not the type of a neighbor anyone wants to 

have. If you should allow right next to anyone's home, this 

would be a travesty. I'm asking you to deny this CUP, and I 

thank you for your time.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you. Can we let them [inaudible 02:53:43]? We got 

[inaudible 02:53:50]. After Curtis, we’ll hear from Mark 

Stenberg.  

Curtis Nielsen:  Thank you. My name is Curtis Nielson. I live out at  

 Pocatello, Idaho. I'm an occupational medicine 

physician assistant and certified veteran disability examiner. 

My statement today is regarding the third standard for 

approving conditional use permits. While my comments will 

be focused on the public health, safety, or general welfare 

portion of the standard, I'm sure that others represented facts 

regarding [inaudible 02:54:23] to the vicinity.  

 

I would also like to note the Bannock County Comprehensive 

Plan adopted in 2021. The second item of the vision 

statement of that plan adopted indicated that Bannock 

County, “will protect and enhance the residents’ quality of 

life,” with an emphasis on the word “residents.” As you read 

the standards for approving a conditional use permit, upon 

inspection of the third standard, it reads, “The proposed use 

would not damage the public health, safety, or general 

welfare within its vicinity.” 

 

There is no ambiguity. It is either a yes or a no answer. There 

are no terms such as, “to a reasonable degree” or applications 

of significance. It is either a yes or no answer. EPA or Idaho 

Department of Air Quality Standards as quoted by the 

applicants are just that; they're guidelines. EPA, Idaho State 

Department of Air Quality Guidelines do not completely 

protect from harm, danger, or health effects. They are 

minimum standards that do not meet the wording of the 

County standards for approving conditional use permits, 

which is, “would not damage public health.”  

 

Per the CDC, 9.8% of the Idaho population is diagnosed with 

asthma. Yearly, respiratory symptoms from plowing the 

fields affects the locals. However, this lasts only a few days 

in most cases. Particulate matter from a working gravel pit, 

whether significant or minimal, increases the daily particulate 

levels in the area and thus increases respiratory symptoms 

year-round for the neighboring residents. In a report entitled, 

“Dust Management at Pits and Quarries from the Ontario 
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Stone Sand and Gravel Association Roads,” dust is managed 

on-site with a variety of potential control measures.  

 

The exact combination of measures required at a site can 

vary widely and depends on production and shipping rates, 

size of the site and distance to neighboring residents. As you 

can see here, there is no distance to neighboring residents. No 

dimension of the size and site and distance. The narrative 

from the applicant addressing the criteria for Standard 3 has 

mentioned the use of water trucks and sprinkling to keep the 

dust down, but it cannot eliminate it. The applicant also states 

that they will be using chemical dust suppressants. That 

chemical will be applied quarterly, obviously affecting soil 

and water.  

 

The narrative is false for the best management practices for 

minimizing dust from gravel pits. A vegetative berm buffer 

may decrease some of the larger particulates, but it will 

actually act as a ramp for the smaller, more potent particles to 

be launching into the neighborhood residential areas from the 

near daily wind.  

 

Recent passage by the US Congress of the PAC-DAC 

addresses veteran illness due to particulate matter exposure 

while serving in the Middle East. This is not to be confused 

with only burn pit smoke exposure. This is for all 

particulates, namely sand and dust. The VA has conceded 

that asthma, chronic bronchitis, COPD, chronic rhinitis, 

chronic sinusitis, emphysema, and other lung diseases are 

service-connected due to particulates the veterans were 

exposed to in the Middle East. These veterans may only have 

had a one-year deployment and now have chronic respiratory 

issues.  

 

I personally have a neighbor with chronic respiratory and 

lung issues that will be affected by this gravel pit. Placing the 

gravel pit next to established residences will increase the 

respiratory disease occurrence and severity of the local 

residents. And remember, the CDC states 9.8% of these 

residents are presumed to already have been diagnosed with 

asthma and possibly will increase the rate of asthma 

exacerbations, placing those residents in potentially life-

threatening situations.  

 

The applicants provided a study from the Utah Department of 

Health that was conducted due to numerous complaints about 
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the air quality changes in the area next to their Utah facility. 

The applicant seemed to be happy with the fact that sampling 

were well below the health-based EPA standards. However, 

in that same study, there's a list of a variety of respiratory 

diagnoses they tried to evaluate, but note, due to the small 

area and numbers, no rates could be calculated for the illness 

and diseases listed above. They didn't have enough sampling 

data to know for sure. This study also notes the particulates 

will – this study states, in that study, that the particulates will 

affect the elderly and citizens with bronchial asthma or 

emphysema, who are exposed to the ambient environment 

through daily activity.  

 

The study limitations also stated, “Fine particulates were not 

measured and can penetrate deeper into the lung and may 

lead to adverse health effects.” The conclusion of that study 

that they submitted stated, “Residents of Brigham City who 

live near the Brigham City sand and gravel operations are 

exposed to airborne dust emissions.” Based on this statement 

alone, Council must vote against the applicant as the gravel 

pit will to some degree, even if it were small, will expose the 

nearby residents with the increased dust emissions, causing 

respiratory symptoms. These presented facts provided to you, 

the committee members, with an undeniable obvious 

response to Standard Number 3, “the proposed use permit 

will damage the public health safety and general welfare 

within its vicinity.” There's no other intellectually honest 

answer that can be given, but to vote against this zoning 

change. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you. Mark Stenberg. After Mark, we'll hear from Jay 

Christensen. You have 18 minutes if you need it.  

Mark Stenberg:  About fifteen minutes? Awesome. Thank you very much. My 

name is Mark Stenberg. I have a residence at  

 Just in the way of introduction, I have 36 years of 

work experience in planning, permitting regulatory 

compliance and cultural resource management, so this is all 

kind of in my basket of experiences here.  

 

So I'll just jump in, I oppose the approving the repackaged 

conditional use permit application from last year, formerly 

denied, as it's been mentioned, you know, four times last 

year. I'll jump in with the pieces that – and I'm not telling you 

guys anything you don't already know, the matter for 

deliberation, thoughtful deliberation later is about the criteria 

in Bannock County Ordinances. Bannock County Ordinance 
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530 Conditional Uses has been mentioned. You have the 

discretion to grant conditional use when it is not in conflict 

with the comprehensive plan. All right, we covered that 

ground tonight pretty well. 

 

The allowance of a conditional use is discretionary with the 

Planning and Development Council and may be granted only 

in the best interest of the general public. Okay. As it was 

mentioned, Idaho Materials Construction is CRH 

headquartered in Dublin, Ireland. It should be noted, that's 

probably a better way, you know, DBA locally in the 

application rather than just using the local name of the 

company to be clear about who's going to profit at this 

location. Okay.  

 

So, inconsistency with the comprehensive plan, Bannock 

County Ordinance 530.6 Part D, and I'm going to focus on 

part A, B, and D, those three – which just kind of to cut to the 

chase, serve denial, as Monte mentioned too, he focused on 

these also – states, “the proposed use would be consistent 

with the goals and policies of the comprehensive plan of the 

County.” 

 

Okay. From the comprehensive plan of Bannock County, 

“will protect and enhance residents’ quality of life.” Bannock 

County comprehensive plan shows the parcels zoned as 

agricultural, the future zoning map, as mentioned, you know, 

is residential suburban. A quarry is not consistent with the 

comprehensive plan. But this fundamental inconsistency of 

the proposal with the comp plan’s future zoning map, and the 

development pattern in the area, as mentioned multiple times, 

should be cause for denial. This application is not consistent 

with the comp plan.  

 

Okay, moving on, Bannock County Ordinance 530.6 Part A, 

“Proposed use would not adversely affect surrounding 

properties to a material greater extent than would be a 

permitted use of the district.” Okay. We have the permitted 

uses in the district. We've got residential. We've got 

agricultural. As Curtis just pointed out, and Jim Sieverson, 

with the study, there will be fugitive dust.  

 

Okay. The current permitted use of the parcel for agricultural 

use has essentially no effect on the surrounding residential 

uses. That's the baseline; no effect. Okay. A CUP for a gravel 

pit will produce increased truck traffic – it's indisputable – 
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track out and spillage of gravel on the roads in the area, as 

well as [inaudible 03:04:04] noise that will affect quality of 

life for surrounding landowners and their families. Okay. No 

effect is not possible. That's my opinion. 

 

Okay. The fugitive dust plan, I appreciate them putting that 

together. It is a little more than a recital of the regulations. 

And as counsel mentioned earlier, “Hey, you guys have the 

regulators to enforce that on us.” Now, they weren't making a 

commitment that they were going to do it. He said the 

regulators will enforce this on you. You've got the protection 

of GEQ for air quality or whatever.  

 

I believe in the fugitive dust plan it makes reference to a 

standard of a 20% opacity at the property line. That's the 

listed allowed standard. And again, that's not no effect. It's 

20% opacity allowed as the regulatory threshold. All right. 

Okay. 

 

This application is inconsistent with Part B of 530.6, again, 

the proposed use would not cause an undue disruption of 

travel or an extraordinary increase in volume of traffic. Last 

year when we were going through this in comments and a 

formal letter we put together, I asked for a traffic plan. And 

the traffic plan, traffic study – what we got in this application 

is a pavement durability study. It's not a traffic study, it's the 

ability of the roads to withstand truck traffic.  

 

Yeah, they provided that. What we asked for though, we 

asked for – hold on a second, sorry. However, the submitted 

study is not on point with traffic concerns. Instead, the study 

is an engineering assessment of the road's ability to support 

the weight of truck traffic and labeled as a traffic study.  

 

Okay. Because the applicant failed to provide a proper traffic 

impact study, the application should be denied or at 

minimum, no decision should be made until a proper traffic 

impact study is conducted that counts and characterizes 

vehicles, motorized and non-motorized, on the roads around 

the proposed quarry operation; evaluates the safety of those 

risks; loss of opportunities; and other impacts of quality of 

life in the area caused by the increased truck traffic, on truck 

loads and gravel on the roadways, et cetera. We didn't get 

that and I think that's what the Council actually asked for as 

they were talking about last year. We got a paper here of 

what you said.  
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Anyway, to move on, to consider a conditional use request, 

all criteria, you guys know this, of Bannock County 

Ordinance 530.6 must be met. As stated above, Standards A, 

B and D are not met by the proposal. Because all standards 

cannot be met, the application for a conditional use permit 

must be denied.  

 

So that's the most important things I have to say. From an 

administrative standpoint, I will say the text message about, 

“Hey, show up early, block the noisy residents,” that's not 

what we're about. We shouldn't be about that in this 

community. Is this the company that's going to take care of 

the neighbors that was trying to exclude us from coming and 

voicing our concerns about the proposal? I'm not sure.  

 

There are problems with the application and I believe staff 

should have rejected this application and sent it back for 

corrections multiple times. Where's the affidavit in the 

counsel's packet that says that our applicant is authorized to 

make this application on the owner's behalf? You don't have 

that. I didn't see it. This application shouldn't have proceeded 

without that affidavit. I heard, I don't know if it's been 

confirmed or not, but that they bought the property. Again, 

the application, if they have bought the property at this point, 

the application doesn't reflect them as an owner. So the 

application, again, is incorrect.  

 

Third, on the map, and you see the parcel outlined in bright – 

the bright greenish color there. Okay. They're asking for a 

conditional use permit on the parcel. They don't differentiate 

on the parcel between the portion of it that's residential and 

the portion of it that's agricultural. That's a mistake in the 

application that should have been corrected. And it's not 

staff's job to fix these things. It should just be sent back to the 

applicant, say, “Fix it. You're asking for a conditional use on 

the agricultural portion of this parcel, not the whole parcel.” 

They don't say that in there. So the application incorrectly 

makes the ask, I believe.  

 

Okay. What else have we got? In short, nothing has changed 

from the last application. We got the traffic plan, that's not a 

traffic plan. We got a fugitive dust plan, which just recites 

regs. We have glossy pictures of reclaimed quarries that I 

don't believe are theirs, and we don't have a track record. And 

as Trinette said, you know, history is the best predictor of the 
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future. If we were standing here today and we had two 

reclaimed quarries from the company in town, walking paths, 

habitat, have been turned over to the city or whatever, and 

they were actually making real commitments, which is, “Hey, 

we're going to put a $2 million bond up. We're going to give 

you guys a schedule to get out of this. We have a real plan. 

We're going to actually sign some stuff. We're going to come 

in and it's going to look like this stuff.” It's a whole different 

conversation.  

 

As KT mentioned, there's seven open pits in the area. Folks 

are just holding permits on them. Why aren’t we reclaiming 

these pits? I don’t know, you know, it costs a lot of money. 

So looking at the history, that's not what we have to work 

with. Glossy pictures are great. I'd like to see – it’d be a 

whole different thing. Right? “Here's the course we did in 

Pocatello. People used them. We turned them over.” That's 

not the conversation we're having today. So, thank you for 

your time. Appreciate your service.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Mark.  

Mark Stenberg: Yep.  

Chair Ulrich: Jay Christensen. You have 36 minutes. 

Jay Christensen:  My name is Jay Christensen. I live at  

 in Pocatello. I’d like to begin with thanking the council 

members for putting up with the long hours and the service 

you render. We appreciate it greatly.  

 

Section 530 of Bannock County Ordinance states this: “the 

applicant for a conditional use permit shall carry the burden 

of proof in showing that proposed use does not conflict with 

the spirit and purpose of the comprehensive plan of the 

County and the standards of the conditional use permits set 

forth in the ordinance.”  

 

Simply put, this application just ignores the vision and 

direction for growth in this area as outlined in the 

comprehensive plan. The applicant states that there's a need 

for gravel for our roadways and they are correct on that point. 

They also want us to believe that there are only a few places 

where gravel can be mined. In the maps that they show in 

their application, they don't even indicate some of the 

existing gravel pits. The bottom line is there is gravel, plenty 

of gravel. Just because a company doesn't see the potential 
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for cheap gravel at this location, it should not be the basis to 

encroach into this residential area to the detriment of the 

residents.  

 

The applicant advances the idea that there are residential 

developments next to the gravel pits not far from this area, 

and suggests the gravel pit permits won't have an adverse 

effect on housing values. In the comparable attachment that 

they have, exhibit that they have, I looked at their 

comparables and they were not apples and apples 

comparables. They were comparing houses next to gravel pits 

with other houses next to high-traffic areas, next to 

interstates. None of those are going to sell as well as more 

prime areas.  

 

An important distinction to remember is that these other 

gravel pits existed first and that home buyers chose to buy 

knowing that those gravel pits were there in existence when 

they bought. That's a real important distinction. What's going 

on here is we have a gravel pit, a mining operation, wanting 

to push its way into an existing residential setting where 

houses have already been established and built and lived in 

for years, and there are a lot of them. That's a very, very 

different thing. So it's not a fair comparison to say other 

people are next to a gravel pit. They chose to.  

 

The future map indicates, and if I could get someone to pull it 

up, thank you. Future land use map indicates the same 

growth pattern as well. If you look on there – and I'd like to 

just make a note that Paul Bastian’s study on this road traffic 

report or whatever it's called, he indicated that there would be 

no real increase in traffic. And I read that and I thought, how 

can that be?  

 

I talked with Paul about that and I said, “Can you clarify 

that?” And he says, “Well, I said there would not be any 

increased traffic on Rio Vista. If you look down on the west 

end of Chubbuck Road where they've been pulling gravel out 

of both sides of Rio Vista and moving out to the interstate 

with it, yes there will not be any increase in traffic down 

there on that part of Rio Vista. But the red line that I put on 

this map, going north and west, a mile and a half to two miles 

will have a substantial increase in traffic.  

 

And I'm going to ask if I, during the timeframe somewhere 

beginning on or about December the 10th, there was a large 
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pile of asphalt road grinds that was hauled from the gravel pit 

down by where Idaho Rock and Sand is, for whatever reason, 

that was hauled up on Rio Vista and west on Siphon Road, 

down over the hill and stored down there and relocated to 

that spot. And so for about two weeks, we got a first-hand 

taste of what it would be like to have a gravel pit out there.  

 

And there were random times, I just stopped my car and took 

some pictures and took some videos. And I would like to 

play that if I can, right now. The staff has this video, but I'm 

not sure they can get the sound out of it, so we’re going to try 

this.  

 

[Video 03:16:00] “[inaudible 03:16:00]. Get a little sneak 

preview of what's going to happen with that gravel pit.” 

 

Please notice how they have to turn on this intersection. You 

see the cars competing with the trucks. This is the entire 

intersection to make the turn. This is on Rio Vista at the 

entrance of the new subdivision. Right after, they’re turning 

south on Siphon Road heading south on Rio Vista.  

 

[End of video] 

 

Does that sound like a residential neighborhood? Fortunately, 

this recent truck lasted only about two weeks and was 

temporary. If the mining operation were to be allowed as 

proposed, this would be a long-lasting daily activity, 7:00 

AM to 7:00 PM, six days a week for years to come. I think it 

would be an unrelenting parade of noisy, disruptive trucks 

going and coming continually. I just don't see how this can fit 

into the comprehensive plan. It flies in the face of reasonable 

application for this round.  

 

One other point that I would like to make is I've been in real 

estate. I've been an active real estate agent for 47 years in 

residential sales and development. There are over 200 acres 

that are being –  on the border of Rio Vista and Siphon, 

where this truck, excuse me, where these trucks are turning. 

Sixty of these acres have been developed with houses built 

on them. There's another 120 acres waiting to be developed, 

in the process of being developed. All this is being done in 

harmony with the ordinance – zoning ordinance, and the 

comprehensive plan.  

 

The property taxes paid by these type of developments far 
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exceed by multiples what an empty gravel pit would ever 

bring in. It probably would not even bring in enough revenue 

to maintain the roads. If you go down over Siphon Road – I 

got pictures I could leave with you – where those trucks were 

– in just a two-week period, where those trucks were driving 

down over that hill, the road’s crumbling away already, and 

so that road is not capable of handling that much high traffic, 

have so many [inaudible 03:21:30] trucks.  

 

And let's see if I've got anything else here. I think that pretty 

much covers it. I just think it's important that we rely on the 

comprehensive plan. The citizens of the County rely on this 

plan. It has been thought out long and hard, put together so 

that it benefits and protects the public, not for just economic 

reasons, but for our safety, for our health, for the school bus 

stops, the kids getting on the school. Can you imagine those 

trucks going by competing with school buses, picking up 

children on that road? Thank you for your time.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Mr. Christensen. We're going to take a 10-minute 

recess again. And then – is 10 minutes okay?  

Tristan Bourquin: You’re the boss.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. Thank you. And then we'll be back at 16 after.  

[Break 03:22:27 – 03:35:46] 

Chair Ulrich: All right, we're going to get started again. Hopefully, that 

will be our last break we have to do this evening. So Nate, I 

believe, we got you down for 27 minutes, if you need it. 

Nathan Cuoio: I won’t take 27 minutes. Nathan Cuoio,  

Pocatello, Idaho, Law Firm Merrill & Merrill, representing 

the homeowners, the affected homeowners. And so, it's been 

a long evening. I'm sure you're tired. I am. And at times I felt 

like the kindergartner waiting for the teachers to ask us to 

stand up and do the hokey pokey to wake back up.  

 

So a lot of what I was going to touch on has already been 

addressed significantly by the homeowners, which is good. I 

think it's good to hear from them directly and personally 

because they are the ones affected by this application. As 

you're aware, in August of 2023, there was a similar 

application proposed to this Council. It was ultimately 

denied, and I understand that each application is submitted on 

its own merits and decided on its own merits. 
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With that said, with each application, there's a staff report 

that's prepared. In the prior application there was actually a 

recommendation of approval with conditions. With this one, 

there's actually a denial. And I think some of those issues, 

probably because of what was discussed last time. And 

ultimately there's the five points. And let me just hit on a 

couple things that I'd like to address.  

 

The first point is, would this adversely affect the surrounding 

properties to a materially greater extent than would a 

permitted use in the district? The question is: what are the 

permitted uses in the district? which currently haven't been 

discussed tonight. They’re things such as residential homes; 

ag uses of buildings, structures, customarily incidental to 

such uses; home applications, some have business in their 

own house; outdoor for-pay recreation uses; ag support; 

daycares with the limit of six children; public utility 

installations not including business offices [inaudible 

03:38:21] public utility; commercial stables; kennels; and 

public services facilities.  

 

So when you consider each of these kind of permitted uses 

and compare them to what this proposed use would be, 

there's a clear distinction between the two. Those types of 

uses that are permitted within an ag district and what is being 

proposed, which is a significant increase in traffic, dust, light 

pollution, noise pollution – similar to what was just 

demonstrated on that video by Jay Christensen.  

 

And just wanted you to compare those two in your mind. 

That's something I'm going to ask you to do as you 

deliberate, I don't think there's really any question about the 

distinction between a mining operation and those permitted 

uses. One is significantly more impactful on the surrounding 

areas.  

 

The second issue that I'd like to touch on just a little bit, in 

their application they reference, and I think they – that Mr. 

Larsen addressed that a little bit earlier as well, but maximum 

loads per day would be 150. Let’s just do the math a little bit 

on that. So loads would constitute a one-way trip; pick up the 

load, you take it somewhere, you come back. So I think at a 

minimum you start at 300 loads; 300 one-way trips per day.  

 

If you have 15 employees, they're driving to work and they're 

leaving every day, that's 30 more. If they travel off-site for 
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lunch, potentially 30 more. And that doesn't even include 

individuals that come onto your site that are coming there for 

business, for other reasons. And so I think you can see very 

clearly that the math adds up to show that there is a material 

greater impact on roads’ traffic in this area, just 

mathematically looking at the facts, calculating the numbers.  

 

One of the other points that I wanted to touch on was, you've 

heard expert testimony from Jim Sieverson who spent a 

career dealing with these aggregate issues. He's probably the 

most qualified person here to talk about it tonight. He and, I 

think it’s Kurt Nielsen, provided clear testimony about 

health-related issues and how this can have a material impact 

on the general public's health. And so I just want to point out 

that I believe that you have sufficient evidence and testimony 

to the contrary of the application to empower you to make a 

decision to deny based on that issue as well.  

 

The fourth point, which is the comprehensive plan, which is 

really kind of been hit on for the most part. And I think Wade 

Egan probably summarized that best out of anyone. He’s 

probably the most qualified person here tonight to talk about 

it too, having been part of that commission, part of this board 

previously.  

 

But just to recap, in 2021, there were a lot of resources spent 

on that plan, a lot  – human capital, financial capital, time. 

And at the time that that was being done, the board and the 

committee at that time could have decided –  because there 

are currently two light industrial uses on two sides of the 

parcel, as pointed out in the application – the commission 

could have decided, well, we want to keep this consistent 

with those light uses. We want to make this mine-ag or we 

want to make this ag-industrial because we need more gravel 

pits.  

 

But they didn't, right? They chose to designate it as rural 

residential. And as Wade pointed out, it's perfect for that. It's 

flat. It could be developed for homes. And as articulated over 

and over tonight, the financial benefit to the county is not 

comparable to what this application would provide in terms 

of revenue to the county and even the general welfare of the 

constituents of the county by helping offset the tax impact 

that all of us have.  

 

So let me just point out a couple points in the comprehensive 
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plan that I think are really material, that I think have to be 

considered by this council. Growth is a big part of that 

comprehensive plan. And under the growth portion of that 

comprehensive plan, there's specifically Policy 1.3.1. I’m 

going to read it to you. It says, “Continue to require 

developments, rezones and land uses to comply with the 

future land use map and associated future land use category 

descriptions, densities, and intensities.” So what that's telling 

us is that any decision that's made by this council has to 

consider this specific point: future land use is earmarked. 

That parcel is earmarked for rural residential. And it's telling 

you to be consistent, to comply with the future land use map.  

 

Policy 1.3.3 “Continue to ensure that farms, ranches and 

agricultural areas be appropriately buffered from industrial 

and more intense uses as needed.” So these are not points that 

were addressed in the application. They did not specifically 

address in the application how the comprehensive plan is 

consistent with their application. They talked about how the 

area needs more gravel. It needs another gravel pit, 

essentially what they were getting at, it needs more 

aggregate. And so I don't believe that they addressed that 

point in the application.  

 

And so when you look at two competing interests, one of 

them here tonight has more “permanency,” we'll call it. If the 

CUP is approved, it's a done deal. I think, as Wade Egan kind 

of articulated so well, once you ring the bell, it's hard to 

unring it. It's hard to enforce that. You put the constituents in 

a difficult situation because ultimately they're the ones that 

have to complain to DBQ and these other agencies because 

they're not following through, right? They don't come back 

before this board. They don't plead for your help. They have 

to go to these agencies and that puts these homeowners in an 

adversarial position with them. And so, if it is denied tonight, 

then the company can go find another location for a pit that's 

zoned either light industrial, heavy industrial, a place where 

it's appropriate. We're not suggesting that there's not a place 

for these things. It's just not this place.  

 

And so let me just summarize a couple things in closing. I 

think, let me just read from Section 115 of the Zoning Code, 

just a couple of things that are – and this is, “The purpose of 

this ordinance shall be as follows: to promote, protect the 

health, safety, comfort, general welfare of the public; to 

support and implement the stated roles for the County as 
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expressed in the comprehensive plan, which I just referenced, 

some of those points; to provide for and protect agricultural 

lands and sensitive natural resource areas; to mitigate the 

effects of incompatible land uses on adjacent users, which 

we're talking about that conflict right now; to propose 

protection against fire, explosions, hazardous materials, 

noxious fumes, loud noise and other hazardous and 

nuisances, which constitute environmental pollution – what 

we've been talking about all that long, what our constituents 

have been talking about, things such as significant dust, loud 

noise all day long and light pollution, among others; to 

preserve and enhance the value of land and buildings 

throughout the county, that was testified to by real estate 

agents with decades of experience; to provide and improve 

the county's quality of life so that the county will be 

increasingly valued by residents and non-residents as a 

desirable place for recreation, living and working.  

 

Most every single one of those from Section 115 touch on 

someone's residence or home life, their quality of life, their 

living situation. These are the basic purposes – when you boil 

it down, that's what it says in the Code – of that ordinance, to 

protect the things – protect the constituents of Bannock 

County and we believe the deliberation should be given in 

light of that. So given what has been presented in writing, in 

the record and on the record this evening, we believe the 

Board has sufficient information, testimony, evidence to deny 

the application. And on behalf of the affected individuals, 

families, and homeowners behind me, we ask that you do 

that. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you, Mr. Cuoio. All right. We would like to invite the 

applicant back up for rebuttal. And I think we are giving 15 

minutes for that rebuttal. 

Reed Larsen: Thank you. And thank you for your diligence tonight. It's 

been a long night and I appreciate your attention. There are a 

number of things that I want to hit on, and it's a little bit 

haphazard. I apologize in advance.  

 

First, what they just discussed was the tax consequence of 

this transaction. That's not one of the factors that you're to 

consider. It's not one of the factors that you have to meet. But 

since it's brought up, we pay a substantial amount of sales tax 

for every load of gravel that goes in and out. So it's not like 

this is a tax-neutral situation. It is – we are paying our fair 

share. We'll pay the property tax. We'll pay the sales tax. But 
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that's not the test for what we're doing here.  

 

The second is addressing the issue of public health. This is an 

interesting aspect of it. But what we provided to you is a 

reasonable study that shows, from a similar location, that has 

way more volume than is going to be done here that there is 

no proven effect. That's important: there's no proven effect. 

We didn't do that study. That was a study that was done at 

someone else's request and it was done based on complaints.  

 

Which leads me to my next point: We've been mining at this 

operation where we currently are since 1973 or before. 

Actually, we took over from the predecessor who had been 

mining before ‘73. This new location is moving literally 

around the corner. So it's not like this is something where 

they say, “We didn't know a gravel pit would be here.” 

There've been gravel pits there since before 1973. This is a 

known use. The next thing that they say is, “Well, we can go 

someplace else and get gravel.” The answer to that is: no, we 

can't. Why? Because it doesn't exist. If you look at the 

application, we've provided a map. If you look at page six of 

the application, you'll see two circles that kind of coincide. 

There's a little finger just outside of those circles. The one is 

Simplot’s, we can't do anything there. That's where gravel is. 

The other is where our proposed pit is, and then there isn't 

any place else. The next place there's gravel’s Pocatello. It's 

developed. You’re not going to get gravel there.  

 

So we can't go someplace else. There's not another location 

we can go to say, “Oh, we'll go here to provide affordable 

gravel to the citizens of Chubbuck and Pocatello and 

Bannock County. It doesn't physically exist. So is it in the 

County's interest? Yes. Is it in the entire citizen's interest? 

Yes it is. We need this product.  

 

Then the next issue you look at is the affordability of it. Well, 

where are you going to go to get it? If you don't want it in my 

backyard, where are you going to go to get it? Well, it doesn't 

exist so you're not going to have it. So part of your 

comprehensive plan is to have a plan for growth for the next 

20 years. That was part of the comprehensive plan.  

 

Now the next point is they keep saying that this isn't a 

permitted use. Well, there's only one portion of this property 

that's rural residential. The majority of this property and 

everything that's going to be mined is zoned agricultural with 
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its closest boundary next to it being light industrial. That was 

part of the comprehensive plan; so this use is consistent with 

that.  

 

Now, the next question you have is the traffic. We provided 

you with the traffic study and we provided you with Road 

and Bridge to say that there is sufficient roads. What 

everyone is missing is the traffic is already there. We are 

already mining. We are already doing everything that we do. 

That's not going to change. One pit is going to close, another 

pit is going to open. So what is the net traffic increase? It’s 

going to be the same as it is now. And you were living by a 

gravel pit to start with, you're still living by a gravel pit. And 

it's a gravel pit that we need. So I respectfully submit that 

we've met those requirements.  

 

The noise issue, there's currently noise that goes from the 

current mine, but we've had zero complaints of noise. We've 

had zero complaints of dust, but we have mitigation plans in 

place. If you look at Exhibits A, B, C, there are mitigation 

plans that are self-checked and also enforced by D or F – by 

the EPA and by the Idaho Department of Air Quality. They 

enforce those too, but we monitor those. If we don't monitor, 

we're not in compliance. And if we're not in compliance, we 

can violate it.  

 

Now, the Mining Office also monitors it so we have to do 

those things. And we've been doing those in the current 

location. So that's still just that argument, “We don't want it 

in our backyard.” It's already in our backyard. We just don't 

want a new one. Well, that would be fine if we didn't need 

gravel, but we do. We need it because it's the building block 

of the development that we're going to need for the next 20 

years. We have to plan for it. And the comprehensive plan 

did that, and it provided the basis for us to get here. So on 

that issue, I think we clearly show that we've met those 

requirements.  

 

I appreciate the spirit that’s been present tonight. There are a 

number of people who’ve given testimony, who I know, 

appreciate and like –  that have been friends for years. And 

we can disagree on certain things, but as it relates to this, 

we're complying with the ordinance. We have complied with 

the ordinance, and based on compliance, we should be 

granted a conditional use permit so we can go forward. 

Thank you.  

228 BOARD OF BANNOCK COUNTY COMMISSIONERS - MEETING TUESDAY, MARCH 25, 2025



 

 

 

January 16, 2025 Council Meeting  

AudioClerk Transcription 

 

75 

Chair Ulrich: Thank you. Do we have any questions on the rebuttal?  

Council Member Selleneit: Do you have any questions? 

Chair Ulrich:  For the applicant? 

Council Member Madsen: [inaudible 03:56:53]? 

Chair Ulrich: No. It could be for the applicant. Would you like John to 

come up or –  

Council Member Madsen: Either one. Whoever prefers to answer, I have a few 

questions. Are there any plans for erosion control on the 

berms, which come up fairly close to the property lines?  

John Wilkes: That's the purpose of the vegetation on the berm. 

Council Member Madsen: And another question is, is IMC willing to consider the 

bonding that's been brought up tonight to hold you to a 

reclamation plan somewhere on the list in the application 

packet?  

John Wilkes: So we're required by the Idaho Department of Lands to file a 

bond for reclamation.  

Chair Ulrich: You could – you can stay up there for a minute.  

John Wilkes: Okay. I kind of – 

Chair Ulrich: You’re probably as tired as we are.  

Council Member Madsen: That’s all I have for now. 

John Wilkes: Would that be okay? Is it okay to sit down now? 

Chair Ulrich: I have a question for your attorney, just for discussion 

purposes. You had mentioned that you live by the landfill.  

Reed Larsen: Yes.  

Chair Ulrich: And you love it?  

Reed Larsen: I do.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. And that's  –   

Reed Larsen: That’s what's weird.  

Chair Ulrich: Yeah, I know, it’s – but that's not the point. The point I'm 

asking is, had the landfill not been there when you purchased 

it –   
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Reed Larsen: Had it not been there? 

Chair Ulrich: – and you bought that place looking at a future land use map 

that did not show a landfill or anything of that sort and then 

the City decided, “We're going to change the zoning and 

we're going to build [inaudible 03:59:01],” would that have 

steered you in a different direction?  

Reed Larsen: No, I love the house. I love the location. I love the property.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. All right, thank you. So let's start with  – start with the 

FLUM, because that's fresh with us right now. If we're 

working on a new comprehensive plan for 2040, right? So 

Hal, can you give us a brief synopsis of why we have a 

FLUM so that the audience knows what that’s about? Sorry 

to put you on the spot.  

Hal Jensen: Future land use map is a document that is adopted by the 

commission, which is a guiding document for future growth. 

It is somewhat indicative but not absolutely indicative of 

participating and making patterns of where growth is 

currently occurring or potentially could go. It's required 

under Idaho statute that a county have a future land use map 

to accompany its comprehensive plan.  

Chair Ulrich: Now, do you have a map on the wall and just throw a dart 

and say, “That's going to be commercial”?  

Hal Jensen: No, no. Future land use map is, for all intents and purposes, 

what we anticipate as well as the growth patterns that we 

have experienced over a particular pattern or period of time. 

So therefore, if we recognize when we go to do updates and 

edits of a future land use map to accompany an adoption or 

an update of a comprehensive plan, we then go in and change 

as well as take it – once those changes are made – we take 

them to the public and they have the opportunity to review 

whether they agree or they disagree.  

 

And we have had discussion, at times with people, through 

the county at our respective meetings that they agree with 

particular things and they disagree with particular things. 

And it's a push and pull, and it's changed. It should be 

changed or updated within every five to seven years, plus or 

minus.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. So talked about this a little bit yesterday. Last night we 

were in a meeting until [inaudible 04:01:45]. This is the 
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second night in a row. It's nice and fresh. Anticipated growth 

in Bannock County 2040 is 33% is the number I saw in the –   

Council Member Selleneit: There’s two [inaudible 04:02:00] 13 and it says 33, I didn't 

know which one was correct.  

Chair Ulrich: Either way, there's some significant growth that’s going to be 

had.  

Council Member Selleneit: Seventeen or 33.  

Chair Ulrich: Seventeen or 33, some significant growth that’s happening in 

Bannock County and I think it’d be – even though we see a 

large amount of growth happens in the south end of the 

county, a substantial amount that I can expect is going to 

probably be within this north end corridor. So as we line this 

out to discuss that FLUM, is that FLUM is – where do we put 

more houses, more residents, more places for people to go. 

So that can't be ignored, especially in this.  

Council Member Selleneit: And I think that, and we've been talking about this – we've 

been talking about this for months, but the lack of housing, 

trying to find a place and a reasonable place to have new 

homes built. And I think the FLUM or future land use map, 

it's obviously kind of a changing document, but that's kind of 

a good guideline that we've been going by. It's up here or 

there, right?  

Chair Ulrich: So currently this is zoned partially as rural residential, and 

partial – the corner is zoned residential.  

Council Member Selleneit: Agricultural.  

Chair Ulrich: And agriculture is the second, the large portion of that. And if 

you can bring up that future land use map. That's current, 

right? All right. So is this current right now?  

Hal Jensen: Yes.  

Tristan Bourquin: This is the future land use map. So that salmon color is 

residential suburban, the purple is industrial, and then the tan 

is reservation.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay.  

Tristan Bourquin: And then really quick, if everybody could pull their mics to 

their mouths so it will pick you up. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you.  
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Council Member Selleneit: So currently being zoned agricultural, so this is minus the 

future land use map. So I'm just reading here the definition of 

agricultural, “includes prime farmland, which has not been 

divided into small agriculturally unusable parcels. The 

agricultural zone is not intended to accommodate non-

agricultural development.” There's a little more to it there, 

however, there is other – and it gives us permitted uses. The 

applicant has talked about mining, which is in there, which 

goes to – would be approval by –   

Chair Ulrich: A conditional use.  

Council Member Selleneit: Yeah.  

Chair Ulrich: A conditional use. 

Council Member Selleneit: Yeah, that's right. We go for a conditional use. 

Chair Ulrich: Section 530. Section 530 Conditional Use, right? 

Council Member Selleneit: Mm-hmm.  “A conditional use may be granted to an 

applicant if the proposed use is otherwise prohibited by the 

terms of the ordinance but may be allowed in conditions 

under specific provisions of the ordinance and when it is not 

in conflict with the comprehensive plan.” Now we have a 

future comprehensive plan that's going to put this residential 

suburban. Is that conflicting?  

Chair Ulrich: That's my thought process and that's why I brought it up.  

Council Member Selleneit: Yep.  

Chair Ulrich: There's other things in here that also it's, it – again, it's up to 

the Council. It says, “The allowance of the conditional use is 

discretionary with Planning and Development Council and 

may be granted only: – and I highlighted that “only” – “in the 

best interest of the general public.” So obviously, the 

applicant for a conditional use permit shall carry the burden 

of proof in showing that the proposal does not conflict with 

the spirit and purpose of the comprehensive plan of the 

county and the standards and conditions – use permit set 

forth in the ordinance.  

 

So “best interest of the public,” I understand what the 

applicant's saying is we aggregate, which I'm not going to 

argue that. But you have a lot of people who have established 

a life in this area that us approving this does not give them a 

choice of whether that's their best interest or not.  
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Council Member Selleneit: We are here for the public input. It's great to see a lot, a 

volume of public input. We are the public, that's why we're 

here.  

Chair Ulrich: And that's by no means saying that Idaho Material does a bad 

job or they don't take care of their employees. 

Council Member Selleneit: Yeah. No bias. No bias.  

Chair Ulrich: Or as Nate brought up, or Mr. Larsen, correct, brought up 

we're – I'm trying to leave a hundred percent the sales tax 

versus property tax – that, I'm trying to leave a hundred 

percent out of this because again, I don't have that crystal 

ball, nobody here does, and so we leave that out. But when 

we're talking about the conditional use, there's some specific 

things here that I just don't feel we can meet that criteria. So 

we can – if you'd like, we can start moving through the 

findings. Yeah? 

Council Member Selleneit: I feel like we can.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. So we'll move through these findings and we'll have 

more discussion. We may ask members of the audience, as 

we go through these, we may not  – same with the applicant – 

to come up and answer some questions. But the first one in 

the findings is the proposed use would or would not 

adversely affect surrounding properties to a material greater 

extent than a permitted use in the district. Talk about 

permitted uses in that district. Do you have that [inaudible 

04:09:12]?  

Council Member Selleneit: No. [Inaudible 04:09:13] permitted uses [inaudible 04:09:17].  

Chair Ulrich: [Inaudible 04:09:22].  

Council Member Madsen: I jotted down some other ones from other comments.  

Chair Ulrich: Yep.  

Council Member Madsen: They include home businesses, outdoor for-pay recreation, 

daycares with six kids or less, stables, kennels, things of that 

nature.  

Chair Ulrich: So when I thought about this, as we were talking, I think 

Nate brought up permitted uses, and as he was going through 

that list, in my head I'm going, okay, what is the worst 

possible use out of this list of uses? And if I put myself in the 

same position, I think I can handle a barking dog in a kennel 

a little bit more than 85 semi-trucks coming past my house 
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every day, so that's just my train of thought. So when we look 

at that and we say, “materially greater extent than what a 

permitted use,” so if I'm thinking in my head, the worst thing 

that I think on that list to me would be a kennel. I would say 

that trucks rolling by my house that many times a day is a 

materially greater extent than the permitted use. Am I correct 

with that [inaudible 04:10:34]?  

Council Member Selleneit: This is a currently permitted use in the district, although 

mining is there, but under a CUP.  

Chair Ulrich: That's right.  

Council Member Selleneit: But then you go to the CUP, yes, “the proposed use would 

adversely affect the surrounding property to a materially 

greater extent than would be permitted use in the district.” 

For the agriculture, the farm district, there’s no effect there. 

Chair Ulrich: Okay, so we want to – if Tristan's writing this down, we want 

to assign an ordinance.  

Hal Jensen: Council has shown by what evidence presented tonight by the 

opposition.  

Chair Ulrich: That’s right. There will be an increase of traffic directly in 

the adjacent area. I understand that there's already a gravel pit 

down the road, but that does change significantly the 

residents and the exposure they have to that traffic. It will 

change – I'm not saying you're not going to take care of dust, 

but there will be a change in the amount of dust that's in the 

air. You know, agricultural dust is seasonal. This is going to 

have the chance for dust, 360, 300 –   

Council Member Selleneit: Sixty-five. 

Chair Ulrich:  – well, not 65, but I mean a lot of days of the year. 

Council Member Dimick: I think it's important to add, too, the undue disruption of 

travel because of the school bus in the video that we saw. 

Chair Ulrich: And the video, I know, is a rare instance, but it does apply to 

the fact that –  and I know not all the trucks coming in and 

out of there are going to be the side dumps, but it doesn't 

change the fact that those intersections are tight and they're 

small and there will be disruption.  

Council Member Dimick: And also noise and dirt and gravel track out onto roads.  
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Chair Ulrich: And we see that already with the existing gravel pits. And I'm 

not faulting them for that because that's part of the business. 

All right. Did that give you enough to type?  

Tristan Bourquin: Okay. Here what I have – here is what I have so far: 

“Permitted uses in the agricultural zone include home 

businesses, outdoor for-pay recreation, home daycares up to 

six children, agricultural support, commercial stables and 

kennels. Gravel trucks driving by the neighborhood would 

adversely affect surrounding properties to a materially greater 

extent than these permitted uses. There will be an increase in 

traffic in the adjacent area and will disrupt travel with school 

buses and other daily traffic. This will change the amount of 

dust in the area, whether mitigation measures are in place or 

not. Noise and dirt and travel track out will also increase as 

part of the proposed use.”  

Chair Ulrich: Okay.  

Council Member Dimick: Gravel track out? You say, “travel or gravel”? I meant gravel. 

Tristan Bourquin: I typed travel. Yes. Thank you.  

Chair Ulrich: All right. The second one, “The proposed use would or 

would not cause an undue disruption in travel to an 

extraordinary increase in volume of traffic in the vicinity of 

the proposed use.” Again, “in the vicinity,” is not well 

defined, but in my mind, in the vicinity would probably be 

within that square mile walk.  

Council Member Selleneit: I would say it would cause an undue disruption, 150 to 300 

trucks a day, that's – little two-lane roads, that's a disruption.  

Chair Ulrich: That's a disruption. As stated by the applicant, the max would 

be 150. Again, it wasn't clear whether that's there and back, 

whether it's empty, but even if we stated 150 alone, that is 

still an increase of traffic in that vicinity. Go ahead, Molly. 

Council Member Dimick: Ed, can I point out the calculated increase in traffic in the 

traffic study was actually up to 400 a day maximum 

considering roundtrip?  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. And that was in the application?  

Council Member Dimick: Yes.  

Chair Ulrich: So was it 150 to 400?  

Council Member Dimick: 150 to 200 loaded trucks per day outgoing, so that’s 

assuming 400 max.  
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Chair Ulrich: Okay.  

Tristan Bourquin: One hundred to – 150 to 200 additional trucks per day with 

one trip, which would calculate to 300 to 400 daily trips, as 

stated by the applicant, would cause an undue disruption of 

travel in the vicinity.  

Hal Jensen: Counsel in your deliberations, the language is, “extraordinary 

increase in the volume.” I think you need to change your 

language relative to your defensible position and address that 

language specifically. Tristan, will you read that back please?  

Tristan Bourquin: One hundred and fifty to 200 additional trucks per day with 

one trip, which would calculate to 300 to 400 daily trips, as 

stated by the applicant, would cause an undue disruption of 

travel in the vicinity.  

Chair Ulrich: And an increase of volume.  

Female: Extraordinary.  

Council Member Selleneit: Extraordinary increase. 

Chair Ulrich: Yes, we'll use that word. Yes.  

Council Member Dimick: So Hal, would it help to cite the current traffic levels in the 

traffic study, which say 500 vehicles per day on Siphon and 

400 per day on Rio Vista, so up to a 100% increase?  

Hal Jensen: Yes.  

Tristan Bourquin: Do you want me to read it again?  

Chair Ulrich: Yes, please. Thank you.  

Tristan Bourquin: One hundred and fifty to 200 additional trucks per day with 

one trip, which would calculate to 300 to 400 daily trips as 

stated by the applicant, would cause an undue disruption of 

travel in the vicinity and an extraordinary increase in volume. 

This could be up to 100% increase in volume of traffic.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. C, “The proposed use would or not – would or would 

not damage the public health, safety or general welfare 

within its vicinity to a materially injurious – to the properties 

or improvements in the vicinity.” I've complained about that 

“materially injurious” before because how do you define 

that? 

 

The way I look at it is when you're talking about public 

health, when you're talking about – as Curtis talked about 
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asthma in the area – any increase at all to me is materially 

injurious. The folks out there are used to it the way it is, and 

if we add anything on top of that, then to me, we're talking 

about public health. So that's my –   

Council Member Selleneit: We’re definitely not doctors on public health.  

Chair Ulrich: Exactly.  

Council Member Selleneit: So I don't think we can address the health issue. There could 

be studies and everything, but we’re some council members.  

Chair Ulrich: That's right.  

Council Member Selleneit: We can hear –   

Chair Ulrich: But my point is: will there be a change from what there 

currently is?  

Council Member Dimick: I think we could point out the safety, traffic safety because of 

–   

Council Member Selleneit: Yeah, I think we almost need a little help on – I don’t see 

how we can determine yea or nay on [inaudible 04:19:29] 

health.  

Chair Ulrich: But we can determine that with that increase of loads coming 

up and down that road, there's going to be an increase –  

Council Member Selleneit: Safety problem.  

Chair Ulrich:  – especially with the fact that we've got six buses making 

stops twice a day between Siphon Road and Philbin Road. 

General welfare of the public with that change in traffic, we 

know that definitely –   

Council Member Selleneit: It will be injurious to properties and materially [inaudible 

04:19:56].  

Hal Jensen: Council, quick change of language relative to adjectives, et 

cetera, from definitions. A new way to read that would be 

“substantially causing harm.” 

Council Member Dimick: And I think it's important that it says “or,” and not “and,” so 

really we only have to demonstrate that one of those is true.  

Chair Ulrich: “General welfare or material,” so we can just say – we just 

leave it at “general welfare” there because it's an assumption. 

Then again, we don't see the future so we can’t make –   

237 BOARD OF BANNOCK COUNTY COMMISSIONERS - MEETING TUESDAY, MARCH 25, 2025



 

 

 

January 16, 2025 Council Meeting  

AudioClerk Transcription 

 

84 

Council Member Dimick: And I think traffic safety is key for 95% of us, that's the most 

dangerous part of our day, right, is being on the road.  

Council Member Madsen: Correct. And gravel on the road [inaudible 04:20:49] bicycles 

and just the safety of –  

Council Member Selleneit: Up to a hundred percent increase in traffic, there's recreation 

loss, there's enough –  

Chair Ulrich: There's an increase in risk.  

Council Member Dimick: And again, we recognize it’s in that general vicinity. We 

know the trucks are already [inaudible 04:21:04] there are 

already gravel pits, but it's in that location, proximity to a 

school bus stop.  

Council Member Selleneit: Yeah, the vicinity.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay, so we need to give Tristan something to type. So the 

proposed use would damage the public health, safety and 

general welfare within the vicinity or be materially injurious 

to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. Based on 

the increase of traffic in the current uses of Siphon and 

Philbin Roads for bus stops, for daily commuters, jogging, 

running, walking, whatever people use it for  –  

Council Member Selleneit: Based on the applicant's proposed numbers.  

Chair Ulrich:  – and based on the applicant's proposed numbers.  

Council Member Selleneit: Of trucks. Or traffic, proposed traffic. 

Tristan Bourquin: The proposed use would damage the public health, safety, or 

general welfare based on the increase of traffic and the 

current uses of Siphon and Philbin Roads for bus stops, daily 

commuters, bikers, joggers, runners, and walkers. This is 

based on the applicant's cited number of truck traffic 

increase.  

Chair Ulrich: Thank you. All right. D, “The proposed use would or would 

not be consistent with the goals and policies of the 

comprehensive plan of the County.” Besides paper cuts, I 

have a lot of notes. And in the comprehensive plan, hold up –   

Female: [Inaudible 04:23:21] land use map. 

Chair Ulrich: Yeah, which also includes the future land use map. In Table 

1.2 of that Comprehensive Plan it says, “Protect and enhance 

residents’ quality of life.” And I'm going to lean on the word 

“protect” here because the residents in and around this 
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property have a specific quality of life that they're currently 

enjoying, and anything we allow that's going to disrupt or 

change that is not enhancing it. I don't think there's anybody 

here for or against this that would say this is going to 

enhance and make their lives better. So can I quote that 

statement, the vision statement within the comprehensive 

plan? Okay. Is that – did I just field everybody's [inaudible 

04:24:19] there? All right. E, “The proposed use would or 

would not –  

Tristan Bourquin: Hold on, Ed. 

Chair Ulrich: What?  

Tristan Bourquin: Since it says, “goals and policies,” I would probably also 

state some specific goals or policies outlined in the comp 

plan as well.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. All right.  

Council Member Selleneit: [Inaudible 04:24:44] future land use map which is to go 

residential rural.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay. So we could also say that.  

Female: [Inaudible 04:24:55].  

Chair Ulrich: All right, so policy 1.5.2, “To ensure land use actions, 

decisions, regulations align with the county's responsibility to 

protect public health, safety, and welfare.” Is that the one you 

wanted?  

Tristan Bourquin: Which policy number is that again?  

Chair Ulrich: 1.5.2. And then I probably should have done this one first, 

but Objective 1.5, “Ensure that the county's land use policies 

and regulations do not violate private property rights.” Would 

you like one more?  

Hal Jensen: Council, how does that violate private property rights? You 

need to have that defensible position. Not just quote, but have 

a conclusion of how those property rights –   

Chair Ulrich: Okay. Sound, noise by itself is one.  

Council Member Selleneit: [Inaudible 04:26:42] property, private property [inaudible 

04:26:43].  

Chair Ulrich:  Okay. We'll leave Objective 1.5 out, just so we don't have to 

go down the rabbit hole of private property rights.  
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Council Member Dimick: We can [inaudible 04:26:57] if we need to, 2.3 “Ensure that 

impacts of adjacent land uses are mitigated, agricultural, 

commercial, industrial, residential through buffer zones, 

design standards, other land use policies,” is that helpful?  

Council Member Selleneit: You get all that? 

Council Member Dimick: It’s in the staff report. Staff findings.   

Tristan Bourquin: And that's being referenced because? I just need a reason for 

that policy as well. 

Chair Ulrich: We don’t need that second one. 

Council Member Selleneit: You want to read it back to us, what we have? 

Chair Ulrich: Yeah, read it back to us? 

Tristan Bourquin: In Table 1.2 of the comprehensive plan, it states, “To protect 

and enhance residents’ quality of life. The residents in and 

around this property have a specific quality of life in the 

vicinity of the proposed use. The use of the gravel pit would 

not enhance the neighbor's quality of life. The future land use 

map has designated this area as residential suburban in order 

to adhere to Policy 1.5.2, which states, “Ensure land use 

actions, decisions, and regulations align with the county's 

responsibility to protect public health, safety, and welfare. 

This parcel would maintain an agriculture or residential 

suburban use.”  

Chair Ulrich: Great. Thank you. All right, we're on E now, correct?  

Council Member Selleneit: Yeah, we’re on [inaudible 04:29:13].  

Chair Ulrich: The purpose – the proposed use would or would not be 

designed to be applicable – I’m sorry, to be compatible in 

terms of bulk, height, scale, setback, open space and 

landscaping with adjacent uses as is practical. I would say it 

would because they stated what they would do to maintain 

berm, to maintain all of the required setback bulk, scale, size, 

open space –    

Council Member Selleneit: Well, they proposed building [inaudible 04:29:47]. 

Chair Ulrich: That's right. So there were no buildings, but everything that 

they have proposed would fit within that table.  

Council Member Selleneit: Setbacks.  
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Chair Ulrich: Per their application. Actually, I got a question first. Do we 

need to go through conditions, Hal?  

Hal Jensen: I don't believe so.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay.  

Hal Jensen: I don't believe so. I think you’re finished through this point.  

Chair Ulrich: Okay.  

Council Member Selleneit: Have her read that last one. 

Chair Ulrich: Yeah, you want to read that last one for us, Tristan?  

Tristan Bourquin: With the maintenance of berms, setbacks, and other items 

outlined in the proposal, this application would be compatible 

with setbacks, open spaces, and landscaping.  

Chair Ulrich: There it is.  

Council Member Dimick: Based on the record and the discussion this evening, I move 

to deny the request by John Wilkes for a conditional use 

permit, as described in the application materials, as 

supplemented with additional information attached in the 

staff report, and according to testimony received, and to 

adopt the proposed findings and order for signature by the 

chair or vice chair.  

Council Member Selleneit: I’ll second that.  

Chair Ulrich: So we've had a motion to deny and a second. We'll do a roll 

call vote. Reminding that a yes vote is for the denial.  

Tristan Bourquin: Molly Dimick. 

Council Member Dimick: Yes.  

Tristan Bourquin: Chad Selleneit.  

Council Member Selleneit: Yes.  

Tristan Bourquin: Edward Ulrich.  

Chair Ulrich: Yes.  

Tristan Bourquin: Krystal Madsen?  

Council Member Madsen: Yes.  

Chair Ulrich: Carries a four to zero vote. Four to deny. We now open up 

for agenda item number four, citizen comments.  
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Tristan Bourquin: Before you do that, you need a motion to close the public 

hearing.  

Chair Ulrich: To close the public hearing. Okay.  

Council Member Selleneit: I motion to close the public hearing.  

Council Member Madsen: I’ll second that. 

Tristan Bourquin: All in favor?  

All: Aye.   

Tristan Bourquin: Any opposed?  

Chair Ulrich: All right, so the next agenda item will be citizen comments. 

This is time set aside to hear items from the audience not 

listed in the agenda. Items which appeared somewhere else 

on the agenda will not be discussed. The Council is not 

allowing to take any official action at this meeting on matters 

brought forward over this [inaudible 04:33:00] agenda item. 

You must sign in at the  start of the meeting to [inaudible 

04:33:05] be recognized. We have anybody signed in for 

that?  

Tristan Bourquin: No, we do not.  

Chair Ulrich: All right. We’ll adjourn. 

[End of Recording] 
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